Strategies to Control Community-Associated Antimicrobial Resistance Among Enteric Bacteria and MRSA in Canada

A comprehensive review

Prepared by: Jeff Wilson John Conly Tom Wong Gayatri Jayaraman Jan Sargeant Andrew Papadopoulos Virginia Young Melanie Quist-Moyer Sharon Bauer

 $\bigcirc$ 

National Collaborating Centre for Infectious Diseases

Centre de collaboration nationale des maladies infectieuses

January 2010

## Strategies to Control Community-Associated Antimicrobial Resistance Among Enteric Bacteria and MRSA in Canada

#### A comprehensive review

Jeff Wilson<sup>1</sup>, John Conly<sup>3</sup>, Tom Wong<sup>4</sup>, Gayatri Jayaraman<sup>4</sup>, Jan Sargeant<sup>2</sup>, Andrew Papadopoulos<sup>2</sup>, Virginia Young<sup>1</sup>, Melanie Quist-Moyer<sup>1</sup>, Sharon Bauer<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Novometrix Research Inc., <sup>2</sup>University of Guelph, <sup>3</sup>University of Calgary, <sup>4</sup>Public Health Agency of Canada

## **Executive Summary**

Resistance to antimicrobial drugs is a concern that exists worldwide and has a significant impact on human and animal health. Knowledge and practice gaps exist around the control of antimicrobial-resistant infections in Canada, particularly in the community setting. Although much research exists on the control of hospital-acquired resistant infections, currently no comprehensive synthesis or review of the literature exists on the control of antimicrobial resistant organism infections within the community. In particular, there is little synthesis of information on those infections that represent a large component of communitylevel impact, namely resistant enteric bacteria and community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (CA-MRSA); these infections pose a significant health burden to Canadians.

In addition to representing a significant human health impact in the Canadian community, enteric bacteria and MRSA have similar spread and control mechanisms (e.g. hygiene and hand washing, sanitation, housing density and crowding, person-toperson spread, animal exposure), thus representing areas for common policy, intervention, and other control activities.

The objective of this work was to conduct a formal, comprehensive review of control strategies and interventions available to reduce both the development of antimicrobial resistant enteric bacteria, specifically *Campylobacter spp., Salmonella spp.,* verocytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli, Shigella spp.,* and CA-MRSA, and the spread of such infections within Canadian communities.

A comprehensive review was undertaken of the relevant peer-reviewed and grey English language literature from 1970 to present using a protocol based on systematic review methodology. A total of 1,467 references were identified; of these, 563 met the abstract relevancy screening criteria and of these, 203 were reviewed in detail.

In general there was reasonable scientific evidence regarding risk groups and risk factors for CA-MRSA. This information provides some insight into potential approaches to control these infections. Identified potential risk groups and risk factors include the following:

- Children
- Specific ethnic groups
- Athletes
- Drug use
- Men who have sex with men (MSM)
- · Heterosexual high risk activities
- Military
- Veterinarians and animal handlers
- HIV infection
- Tattoo recipients
- · Living with a carrier or case of CA-MRSA
- · Emergency departments and hospitalized patients
- Antibiotic use

There was a paucity of information on risk groups and risk factors for the community-acquired antimicrobialresistant enteric bacterial infections studied; some information exists on risk settings and risk factors for community-acquired enteric bacterial infections (without reference to resistance), but the extent to which this can be extrapolated to resistant infections is unknown; much of this information takes the form of outbreak reports. Potential risk groups and risk factors for community—acquired antimicrobial resistant enteric infections include the following:

- Daycare centres
- Schools
- Households
- Nursing homes
- Immunocompromized individuals
- Specific sociodemographic factors (i.e. rural residents, specific ethnic groups, income, education, access to health services)
- Population density
- Season

There is a paucity of scientifically-based information (RCTs or observational studies) on interventions for CA-MRSA or for the enteric bacterial infections studied, resistant or otherwise. A number of RCTs have shown the effectiveness of handwashing in the prevention of gastrointestinal illness generally.

A limited number of intervention studies of hospitalacquired methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (HA-MRSA) exist, however the extent to which the result of these studies can be extrapolated to CA-MRSA is unknown. Such extrapolation may be misleading.

There is extensive literature concerning recommendations, guidelines and suggested approaches to the control of both CA-MRSA and, to a lesser extent, for enteric bacterial infections in community settings. Although the efficacy of these approaches is plausible, it has for the most part not been formally evaluated. Proposed approaches to control of these infections include the following:

- CA-MRSA
  - Hand and personal hygiene
  - Prudent use of antibiotics
  - Decolonization
  - Early diagnosis and appropriate treatment
  - Education programs (hygiene, antibiotic use)
  - Regular cleaning and laundering in households and facilities

- Equipment disinfection
- Exclusion of those with active infection from certain high risk settings
- · Community-acquired enteric bacterial infections
  - Hand, household and institutional hygiene
  - Equipment disinfection in high risk settings
  - Public and public health education
  - Early diagnosis and appropriate treatment
  - Exclusion of those with active infection from certain high risk settings

Formal evaluations of the efficacy of strategies for control of CA-MRSA and community-acquired enteric infections (resistant and otherwise) are warranted and should form the basis for public health guidelines and policy. Until such time as evaluations can be undertaken, recommendations for control of these infections must be dependent largely on historic practice, conventional wisdom, extrapolation from other contexts, consensus, and conjecture.

Potential interventions that would warrant formal evaluation in various settings and groups include the following:

- Hand and personal hygiene
- · Prudent use of antibiotics
- Decolonization
- Early diagnosis and appropriate treatment
- Public education programs (hygiene, antibiotic use)
- Regular cleaning and laundering in households and facilities
- Equipment disinfection
- Exclusion of those with active infection from certain high risk settings

Ongoing collection and evaluation of information (including surveillance and epidemiologic studies) on the occurrence, settings, risk factors, and risk groups for CA-MRSA and resistant enteric infections is warranted. Such information will be useful in determining disease trends, identifying risk groups, settings and risk factors, and in identifying and evaluating potential interventions.

# Table of Contents

Executive Summary i
Introduction
Background 2
Antimicrobial Resistance
Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus    3
Resistant Enteric Bacteria
Objectives
Methods
Results: Methicillin-Resistant <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> 10
Risk Factors and Risk Groups
Reservoirs and Transmission
Proposed Control Options
Specific Evaluation Studies of Control Options
Results: Resistant Enteric Bacteria
Risk Factors and Risk Groups
Reservoirs and Transmission
Proposed Control Options for Enteric Bacteria
Specific Evaluation Studies of Control Options
Conclusion
References
Appendices
A: Key Words and Search Strings
B: Abstract Relevancy Screening Checklist

# Introduction

Resistance to antimicrobial drugs is a concern that exists worldwide and has a significant impact on human and animal health. Antimicrobial resistance jeopardizes the ability to treat and control infections in both animals and humans. Knowledge and practice gaps exist around the control of antimicrobialresistant infections in Canada, particularly in the community setting. Public health practitioners are searching for appropriate actions to mitigate the effects of antimicrobial resistant pathogens in the community. Although much research exists on the control of hospital-acquired resistant infections, currently no comprehensive synthesis or review of the literature exists on the control of antimicrobialresistant organism infections within the community. In particular, there is little synthesis of information on those infections that represent a large component of community-level impact, namely resistant enteric bacteria and community-associated methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus (CA-MRSA); these infections pose a significant health burden to Canadians (1-4).

If drug resistance continues to increase in prevalence, rising from current Canadian levels to the higher levels being reported in the United States, it is estimated that added direct expenses in Canada would rise to between \$104 and \$187 million annually. This is \$64 to \$102 million more than those infections would have cost had they been drugsusceptible. The costs of screening would remain the same, but the costs of precautions for colonized patients could rise towards \$157 million; Canada reportedly spends at least \$659 million annually on more than 25 million retail prescriptions for antiinfective drugs (orally administered). This is the third highest drug usage category. If drug resistance rises to endemic levels, resulting in the prescription of more potent and expensive newer drugs for all drug treatment, both in and out of hospital, drug costs could escalate to at least \$1.8 billion. In addition to representing a significant human health impact in the Canadian community, enteric bacteria and MRSA have similar spread and control mechanisms (e.g. hygiene and hand washing, sanitation, housing density and crowding, person-to-person spread, animal exposure), thus representing areas for common policy, intervention, and other control activities (5).

# Background

## Antimicrobial Resistance

#### General Resistance Development

Generally, antimicrobial resistance in microorganisms can be achieved in two ways: innate or acquired. Microorganisms that have a natural resistance to a given class of antimicrobials are said to have innate resistance. Microorganisms can also develop acquired resistance by either spontaneous mutation or by horizontal transmission of extrachromosomal genes. The extra-chromosomal genes may be transferred in the form of plasmids, transposons, or integrons and may be inserted in the susceptible microbe's chromosome or in a plasmid (6–8).

The introduction of some new antibiotics has been associated with the rapid development of resistant microorganisms. This is primarily mediated through the excessive use of antimicrobials; however, technological advances, globalization, and changes in societal behavior have also aided resistance development (7,9). The spread of AMR pathogens most often occurs because of overcrowding and poor hygienic conditions within a given population, the misuse or excess use of antimicrobials in humans and animals, and the failure of infection control programs in institutional and hospital settings (6). These factors also contribute to the dissemination of susceptible microorganisms in a given population (6). There are four major mechanisms by which antimicrobial treatments can result in the selection of resistant strains within a given population. The first is treatment failure resulting in the ability of resistant strains to propagate and spread to other hosts. The second is the elimination of susceptible strains due to treatment, thereby increasing the number of resistant strains in the population. The third is the elimination of susceptible strains from the host, increasing the risk of infection with resistant strains due to an unoccupied niche. The fourth is that resistant commensal organisms within a host may, upon treatment, propagate due to the elimination of susceptible flora, thereby increasing shedding of the resistant bacteria (10).

The overall impact of antimicrobial resistance on public health is that it can increase the burden of disease in humans by limiting antimicrobial treatment options, requiring use of more expensive or toxic drugs, delaying effective treatment, and increasing the duration or severity of infection (11,12).

#### Development of Resistance in Staphylococcus aureus

Staphylococcus aureus possesses the ability to readily acquire antimicrobial resistance (9). For instance, after the utilization of penicillin, resistance in S. aureus was quickly observed (13). However, unlike penicillin resistance, the development of methicillin resistance in S. aureus is less clearly defined. The mechanism responsible for resistance to methicillin is encoded by the chromosomally linked staphylococcal chromosomal cassette SCCmecA that produces a penicillin binding protein PBP2a which, if upregulated, has low affinity for beta-lactam antibiotics, including cephalosporins (0,13–15). The exact mechanism for the emergence of MRSA is unclear; however, there is evidence that the *mecA* gene evolved from a domestic gene possessed by S. sciuri (9,14,15). Additionally, other staphylococcal coagulase-negative strains and Enterococcus hiriae are other potential sources of resistance genes (13). Therefore, the emergence of the epidemic MRSA clones is believed to have occurred due to a horizontal transfer of resistance genes from the donor microorganism into a methicillin-susceptible S. aureus (MSSA) recipient strain, which frequently encountered one another (16). The most popular theory of the initial acquisition of resistance genes in S. aureus is transduction of the SCCmecA via a phage (14). Therefore, it is unlikely that MRSA initially developed its resistance due to selective pressure of antimicrobials (14).

After nearly three decades of being exclusively associated with hospitals, MRSA emerged in various geographically distinct communities outside of health care settings, without obvious health care-associated risk factors (9,17). Despite the number of MSSA strains found to cause illness, there are only a handful of epidemic MRSA clones (16). Unlike the hospitalacquired strains in the community, the SCCmec type IV is the dominant gene cassette which is the smallest structurally, more variable, and most mobile type of SCCmecA (14). Additionally, limited resistance has been observed among CA-MRSA clones. Because of the size, mobility, and low level of resistance, there is less of an energy burden on the organism, which makes it more genetically fit for dissemination in populations (14).

#### Development of Resistance in Enteric Bacteria

Antimicrobial resistance in enteric bacteria is a growing problem. Antimicrobial resistance in enteric bacteria has been associated with the use of antimicrobial agents in food animals and can be influenced by previous antibiotic intake that affects the fecal flora in humans (18,19). The selective pressure brought about by the use of antimicrobial agents in food animals has led to the emergence and dissemination of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria, including animal pathogens, human pathogens with food animal reservoirs, and commensal bacteria (19–21).

Spread can occur through ingestion of contaminated food, direct contact with animals through colonization of resistant isolates in community settings, or through household contacts and/or intrafamilial transmission (19,22,23).

## Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus

Historically, *S. aureus* has been responsible for causing illness in humans ranging from uncomplicated skin lesions to septicaemia. *S. aureus* is also a commensal organism that can be found on skin, nasal passages, and the perineum (24).

Methicillin, or meticillin, is a penicillinase-resistant, semisynthetic penicillin group narrow spectrum antimicrobial introduced for treatment in 1959 (25). Soon after its use in healthcare, resistance among gram-positive microorganisms was observed (25).

## Definition of MRSA

Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) is a coagulase-positive *S. aureus* strain that has acquired beta-lactam resistance to antimicrobials, such as methicillin and oxacillin, and is mediated by PBP2a. Resistance to methicillin was first reported in the early 1960s in the hospital environment (26). In the 1980s and 1990s, MRSA began to emerge in the community and has continued to rise in incidence. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) has since identified CA-MRSA as an emerging worldwide public health risk (27).

### Definition of Community-Associated MRSA and Hospital-Associated MRSA

Since the divergence of MRSA from hospital to the community, cases and outbreaks are now described as either community—associated MRSA (CA-MRSA), or hospital-associated or health care-associated MRSA (HA-MRSA). Controversy over the definitions of the two types of MRSA has arisen; however, both the CDC and Canadian expert panels define CA-MRSA as a case with (27,28):

- 1. Diagnosis of MRSA was made in the outpatient setting or by a culture positive for MRSA within 48 hours after admission to the hospital
- 2. No medical history of MRSA infection or colonization
- 3. No medical history in the past year of hospitalization, admission to a nursing home, skilled nursing facility, or hospice, dialysis, or surgery
- 4. No permanent indwelling catheters or medical devices that pass through the skin into the body

In addition to the clinical definition of CA-MRSA, there are unique genotypic and phenotypic traits expressed by both HA-MRSA and CA-MRSA that can be used for differentiation. CA-MRSA strains typically possess the staphylococcal chromosomal cassette SCC*mec* type IV and less frequently type V gene, which confers resistance. It is also generally more susceptible to antimicrobials and is associated primarily with skin and soft tissue infections (SSTI), necrotizing pneumonia, and necrotizing fasciitis (29,30). Furthermore, CA-MRSA strains have been highly associated with the presence of the virulence factor Panton-Valentine leukocidin (PVL) a cytotoxin potentially capable of causing severe tissue necrosis and leukocyte, destruction (30,31). Conversely, HA-MRSA strains do not typically have PVL and possess SCCmec types I-III, which are often multidrug-resistant and manifest by infecting wounds, ventilator-associated pneumonia, line infections and other infections involving crossing the skin barrier (29,30).

There are several strains of MRSA that have appeared in distinct geographical locations such as the United Kingdon, Holland, Germany Taiwan, Japan, Australia, Argentina, Canada, and the United States (30,31). Discrimination between hospital and community strains can be achieved using molecular typing techniques such as pulse-field gel electrophoresis and multilocus sequencing (32). Typically, in North America, USA300 (or CMRSA-10 under Canadian nomenclature) and less frequently USA400 (or CMRSA-7) strains are characteristic of MRSA strains in the community; USA100 (CMRSA-2) and 200 strains are associated with hospital-acquired strains (32,33). It is important to note that although the strain may indicate a hospital origin, the true nature of the strain is only confirmed through an epidemiological investigation.

#### Limitations to the Definitions

Despite the above, there still remain several limitations to the definitions. For example, infected individuals may remain colonized with MRSA for extended periods of time; hence, the assignment of timelines for hospital exposure may be incorrect (13). In addition, communities such as long-term care facilities and nursing homes are inconsistently classified due to the unique nature of the population in those settings (13). Individuals with close contact to infected HA-MRSA individuals, such as health care workers or family members, who go on to become infected themselves would by CDC's definition, be community cases despite the strain's hospital origin. Similarly, CA-MRSA strains could move into the hospital setting and cause illness and thereby would be misclassified as a HA-MRSA (28). Therefore, the clear-cut definitions become blurred with the movement of HA-MRSA and CA-MRSA strains between the community and hospital settings. The definition of CA-MRSA thus leaves the possibility of misclassification of illness without molecular confirmation.

#### CA-MRSA Diagnosis

Although a suspected diagnosis may be based on patient symptoms, risk factor evaluation, and local epidemiology in the community, the presence of CA-MRSA can be confirmed through culture and/ or appropriate molecular techniques. Pustular material from the lesions should be obtained prior to incision and submitted for culture and antimicrobial susceptibility testing to ensure the correct antibiotic is prescribed (8,28). Since severe and invasive infections may also occur such as necrotizing fasciitis, necrotizing pneumonia, and bacteremia, additional samples to consider include blood, respiratory secretions, or endotracheal fluid (33).

### CA-MRSA Treatment

Surgical, topical, oral, and parenteral therapies can be used to treat CA-MRSA infections. Mild skin infections do not require antimicrobial therapy; incision and drainage of subcutaneous abscesses alone is effective in many cases. Children with SSTIs showing an infected area site with a diameter < 5 cm respond well to topical therapy without antibiotics according to Popovich and Hota (34). Some infections may require both incision and drainage of the infected site and antibiotic treatment; if abscesses are difficult to drain, the patient appears systematically ill or has co-morbidities, there is a lack of response to previous treatments, or the severity of the infection is advancing, antibiotics with a follow up of forty-eight hours may be required (28,34). Several antibiotics have been recommended to treat CA-MRSA depending on the severity, patient, and nature of the infection. These include trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, clindamycin, rifampin (in combination therapy), quinopristin-dalfopristin, vancomycin, linezolid, vancomycin, and tigecycline. Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole in combination with rifampin, and clindamycin are successful for treatment of SSTI; a susceptibility test is recommended on clinical isolates when resistance is a possibility. Quinopristin-dalfopristin and linezolid are active against almost all strains of MRSA and therefore should be used when current therapy fails; since decreased activity of vancomycin against CA-MRSA strains has been reported, use of this antimicrobial should be limited to severe sepsis such as endocarditis and septicaemia. Tigecycline, approved in 2005 to treat complicated intra-abdominal infections and complicated SSTIs, should be used with caution in order to prevent the development of resistance (28, 34 - 36).

## **Resistant Enteric Bacteria**

#### Definition of Enteric Bacteria

The term 'enteric bacteria' generally refers to a large group of gram-negative rod-shaped bacteria found in the gut of animals and humans. Enteric pathogens are often transmitted by means of food or water (foodborne diseases) and are responsible for acute gastroenteritis; some cause systemic disease that may have chronic complications ((37,38). Many enteric bacteria are commensal organisms in their primary hosts, however can be highly pathogenic if infection occurs in another species (37). This review is limited to the most common enteric bacterial pathogens of significance to public health in Canada.

## Campylobacter spp.

*Campylobacter spp.* is the most common cause of enteric bacterial infection in humans around the world (39). *Campylobacter* species are motile, non-spore forming, comma-shaped, gram-negative rods. Fourteen species have been recognized within the genus and most reported infections of *Campylobacter* are caused by *C. jejuni* (40). Campylobacteriosis is generally a self-limiting disease and is treated by fluid replenishment. However, in cases of severe or extraintestinal infections and in immunocompromised patients, antibiotics may be required. Erythromycin is the usual drug of choice for the treatment of Campylobacter infections (18). In addition to erythromycin, azithromycin is another macrolide that can be used, but macrolide resistance is spreading in many parts of the world (41,42). However, fluoroquinolones, gentamicin, and tetracycline also are clinically effective in treating *Campylobacter* infections when antimicrobial therapy is needed (13). Serious implications are associated with antimicrobial resistance in treatment situations, as Campylobacter isolates have demonstrated resistance to ciprofloxacin, doxycycline, ampicillin, roxithromycin, lincomycin, chloramphenicol, cetfriaxone, tetracycline, erythromycin, doxycycline, elemental quinolone, and nalidixic acid (37,44).

Fluoroquinolones used to be considered the drugs of choice for *Campylobacter* infection, but recent studies have demonstrated an increase in fluoroquinolone-resistant *Campylobacter* strains worldwide (38). Erythromycin is now considered the optimal drug for treatment of *Campylobacter* infections. Despite decades of use, the rate of resistance of *Campylobacter* to erythromycin remains low, and unlike other agents, it is not likely to damage other fecal flora (38,45).

Other reviews suggest that erythromycin resistance in developed countries, including the United States, is generally stable at less than 5% (46,47), although slightly higher resistance has been reported from Canada (48). A cluster of 11 erythromycin and ciprofloxacin resistant *C. jejuni* cases was reported from Quebec, Canada (49).

## Salmonella spp.

Salmonellae are typical members of the family Enterobacteriaceae and are facultative anaerobic gram-negative bacilli that can infect or colonize a wide range of mammalian hosts. Medically important Salmonella organisms come from a single species, known as Salmonella enterica, which has approximately 2,500 different serovars with familiar names such as *Salmonella* Typhimurium, Typhi, and Heidelberg (38,50,51).

In the 1990s, multidrug-resistant (MDR) Salmonella Typhimurium (MDR-ACSSuT) definitive phage type 104 (DT104), which is resistant to ampicillin, chloramphenicol, sulfonamides, streptomycin, and tetracycline, emerged and spread throughout the world (52). This strain is responsible for approximately 10% of Salmonella isolates in the United States today (52). Like MDR-ACSSuT Salmonella Typhimurium, MDR-AmpC S. enterica serovar Newport strains are resistant to at least ampicillin, chloramphenicol, streptomycin, sulfonamides, and tetracycline. In addition these, MDR-AmpC Newport isolates are resistant to amoxicillin/clavulanic acid and ceftiofur, and exhibit decreased susceptibility to ceftriaxone (53). Multidrug-resistant Salmonella strains are associated with excess bloodstream infections, hospitalizations, and death compared with pansusceptible strains (54–56). Helms and associates (56) determined that infection with quinolone-resistant Salmonella Typhimurium increases risk of illness or death 3.5 times (95% CI 1.4-7.1) within ninety days of initial infection, compared with that observed for infection with pan-susceptible strains.

Resistance to the extended-spectrum (third and fourth-generation) cephalosporins can occur in *Salmonella* species by means of the production of plasmid-mediated extended-spectrum ß-lactamases, as well as the acquisition of plasmids containing the AmpC ß-lactamase genes derived from the chromosomes of *Citrobacter freundii* and *Morganella morganii* (20,21).

Resistance to the commonly used antimicrobials in *Salmonella* is an important threat to public health. The patterns of resistance in the typhoidal and non-typhoidal *Salmonellae* are constantly changing (57).

#### Verocytotoxigenic Escherichia coli

*Escherichia coli* are gram-negative motile bacilli of the family Enterobacteriacae. A primary reservoir for antibiotic-resistant *E. coli* is the gut. *Escherichia coli*  O157:H7 is one of the more than thirty serotypes of *E. coli* known to produce *Shigella*-like toxins that are cytotoxigenic to the intestinal vascular endothelial cells (37). Shiga-toxigenic *E. coli* have been established as a major cause of bloody diarrhea. In particular, *E. coli* 0157:H7 infections can lead to hemolytic uremic syndrome with long-term chronic sequelae including renal failure (37,58).

To date resistance to ampicillin, cotrimoxazoli, doxycycline, amoxicillin, co-amoxiclav, pipcracillin, cefuroxime, ceftazidime, gentamicin, and ciprofloxacin has been documented in *E. coli* strains worldwide (59). Resistance has been reported in verocytotoxinproducing *Escherichia coli* (VTEC) to antimicrobial agents, including streptomycin, sulphonamides, and tetracycline (60,61).

#### Shigella spp.

*Shigella* is a genus of gram-negative bacteria closely related to *E. coli* and *Salmonella*. These bacteria invade and destroy the cells lining the large intestine causing ulceration and bloody stool. There are four species of *Shigella: S. dysenteriae, S. flexneri, S. boydii,* and *S. sonnei.* 

More recently, shigellosis has become an increasingly significant public health problem due to development of antimicrobial susceptibility and multidrug resistance. This increased resistance frequently results in treatment failure, leading in turn to health complications and deaths (62,63).

*Shigella* strains have become progressively resistant to multiple antimicrobial agents, initially to sulfonamides, shortly after they became commercially available, then to tetracycline, chloramphenicol, and streptomycin less than ten years after each was introduced, and subsequently to ampicillin, kanamycin, and trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (64–67). A study by Replogle *et al.* in 2000 based in Oregon found that 59% of *Shigella* isolates were resistant to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole and 63% were resistant to ampicillin (66). Similar resistance patterns have been reported from England and Wales (68), Canada (69) and Germany (70).

# **Objectives**

The objective of this work was to conduct a formal, comprehensive review of control strategies and interventions available to reduce both the development of antimicrobial resistant enteric bacteria, specifically *Campylobacter spp., Salmonella spp.,* verocytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli,* and *Shigella spp.,* and CA-MRSA, and the spread of such infections within Canadian communities. As part of this review, the current state of knowledge of such interventions and control strategies, focusing on public health, was synthesized. The following specific research question defined the scope of this review:

#### **Research Question**

What strategies, interventions, or other control options exist that may be used to reduce the spread of antimicrobial-resistant *Salmonella, Campylobacter,* verocytotoxigenic *E. coli, Shigella,* and CA-MRSA infections in Canadian communities, and what evidence supports these assessments?

# Methods

A formal method of information retrieval, based on systematic review methodologies, was used and included the following:

- Identification of relevant databases for accessing peer-reviewed and grey literature
- Inclusion and exclusion criteria
- A clearly defined search strategy including search terms
- A method for determining the relevance of identified information
- A method for quality appraisal of the identified information

#### Search Strategy

#### Search space/locations

#### Databases

The following databases were searched for this review:

- PubMed/Medline
- CAB Direct
- Biosis Web of Knowledge
- Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL)
- Cochrane Library

#### Websites

Websites of health technology assessment and related agencies, professional associations, and other specialized databases were also searched for relevant information. These websites were:

- Association of Medical Microbiology and Infectious
   Disease Canada
- Canadian Bacterial Surveillance Network
- Canadian Integrated Program for Antimicrobial Surveillance
- European Antimicrobial Surveillance System
- National Antimicrobial Resistance
   Monitoring System

- Alliance for the Prudent Use of Antibiotics
- Canadian Committee on Antibiotic Resistance
- Canadian Optimal Medication Prescribing and Utilization Service
- Community and Hospital Infection Control Association – Canada
- Public Health Agency of Canada
- Provincial ministries of health
- World Health Organization
- · Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
- DanMAP
- Swedish Strategic Programme Against Antibiotic Resistance
- British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy
- · Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America

#### **Internet Searches**

Finally, Google Scholar was searched for additional web-based material.

#### Search terms and techniques

First, the following key words were used for an initial search of the above search spaces:

- Antimicrobial, antibiotic, antibacterial, anti-infective
- Resistance, resistant, AMR
- Enteric disease
- Salmonella, salmonellosis, Shigella, shigellosis, E. coli, VTEC, Campylobacter
- Gastrointestinal, gastroenteritis
- MRSA, Staphylococcus aureus
- Veterinary, human public health
- Population
- Community
- Control
- Intervention
- Prevention
- Surveillance, monitoring
- Policy, policy evaluation
- Guidelines
- Best practices

The complete list of key words, phrase searches, and search strings are shown in Appendix A.

From those relevant articles identified in the above search, additional articles and references were identified by cross-referencing the reference lists in the identified articles, as well as conducting additional searches using author information from relevant identified articles.

Finally, upon the completion of the first draft, the list of identified relevant articles was reviewed by study team members (Jeff Wilson, John Conly, Tom Wong, Gayatri Jayaraman, and Andrew Papadopoulos) to identify any missing grey literature or articles in preparation or in press.

#### Database of Search Results

A database of identified references was created using RefWorks, an online research management program.

#### Data Collection and Appraisal Methods

#### Data Collection Timeframe

The primary search for material was conducted from February 9 to March 6, 2009. Cross-referencing articles, secondary searching by author, and expert review of the identified articles was completed by May 31, 2009.

#### Abstract Relevancy Screening

Abstracts were screened for relevancy in RefWorks using the Relevancy Screening Checklist (Appendix B) developed for this review.

#### Inclusion criteria

References that focused on strategies in the human population to control and prevent MRSA and enteric bacteria, specifically verocytotoxigenic *E. coli, Shigella, Campylobacter,* and *Salmonella,* were included. Special emphasis was given to literature focusing on the Canadian community setting. The search was restricted to the English language.

#### **Exclusion criteria**

This review does not include information on health care-associated infections or control methods relevant to health care settings unless such information (a) describes a significant risk to the community and thus represents an important control point, or (b) clearly demonstrates how such control strategies can be successfully applied in community settings.

#### Appraisal of Relevant Information

All documents identified as relevant through the abstract screening were reviewed as follows (Appendix B). Due to the limited availability of literature specifically describing control and prevention options for the aforementioned microorganisms at the community level, a semi-structured appraisal process was used to ensure a high sensitivity of information capture (e.g. unrelated papers or those with less rigorous study designs that suggested potential risk pathways were screened and information captured).

A formal critical assessment was not conducted as the breadth of the study question and relevant literature precluded this being done in a meaningful manner. However, a qualitative evaluation of papers was performed based on critical appraisal guidelines (71). Papers that met the inclusion criteria were read and assessed based upon the following categories: risk factors, modes of transmission, sources, proposed hypothesized interventions or methods to prevent the spread of infection, and efficacy studies of intervention or prevention methods. From these papers, relevant information was extracted and used to create a comprehensive synthesis of the available literature.

## Results

A total of 1,467 references were identified via the search. Of these, 563 references met the abstract relevancy screening and were thus included in the RefWorks database. Of these, 205 references met the requirements of the evaluation.

## Results: Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus

Numerous guidelines and review papers exist that describe the epidemiology and management of CA-MRSA, capturing information current to circa 2005. Since 2006, several new risk factors have been identified and several effectiveness studies have been published. Therefore, existing guidelines and review papers were summarized to provide a baseline of the known areas for the control of CA-MRSA (e.g. traditional risk groups, factors, and transmission modes), as well as recommended control options. We then summarized new literature from 2006 onwards to identify new or potential populations at-risk, risk groups, and risk factors, or new or potential transmission modes, as well as evaluated control options. For the purposes of this review, colonization is defined as the presence, growth, and multiplication of the organism without observable clinical symptoms or immune reaction. Infection refers to invasion of bacteria into tissue with replication of the organism accompanied by clinical signs of illness.

## **Risk Factors and Risk Groups**

There are many well documented risks factors for CA-MRSA. Generally, the use of antimicrobials, skin-to-skin contact, crowded living conditions, contaminated environment, poor hand and personal hygiene, an infected or colonized housing mate/ family/pet member, comorbidities, or compromised skin are all considered risk factors for CA-MRSA (72).

Several papers have illustrated risk factors for CA-MRSA. For instance, in a recent study, Beam and Buckley (73) conducted a retrospective comprehensive review to determine the prevalence rates and risk factors associated with CA-MRSA. After reviewing the available literature from 1966–2002, they concluded that individuals with health care related risk factors were more likely to become colonized with CA-MRSA than those who had no risk factors. Overall, 85% of hospitalized persons and 47.5% of healthy individuals had  $\geq$ 1 health care-related risk factors for CA-MRSA such as recent hospitalization, outpatient, nursing home admission, antibiotic exposure, comorbidity, injection drug user, and close contact with an infected individual (73).

In a recent Danish study that aimed to identify risk factors for CA-MRSA, the only significant risk factor observed was non-Danish origin, likely due to close contact with non-Danish relatives or friends from countries that have a higher prevalence of MRSA (74). In another Danish study, risk factors and trends observed included a high prevalence in children from ages 1–10; travel, and/or contact with non-Danish individuals were frequently reported (75).

Specific risk groups such as children, certain ethnic groups, athletes, injection drug users, men who have sex with men (MSM), military personnel, correctional facility inmates, MRSA carriage or previous infection, chronic skin disorders, lower socio-economic groups, veterinarians, daycare, travel, and construction workers have been associated with CA-MRSA infections and colonization. Notable recent studies, which address a few select groups, are addressed in the following section. Additionally, more recently identified MRSA transmission pathways have been included in this section.

#### Children

Unlike in HA-MRSA, children and neonates are particularly susceptible to CA-MRSA colonization and infection. There are several review articles and case studies that provide an overview of the factors associating children and CA-MRSA, as well as the prevalence among this risk group (33,35,76–83). Healthy children can become colonized with CA-MRSA and may go on to spread the bacterium to other children, family members, and those in close contact. A nasal colonization study found that among kindergarteners in Taiwan 9/68 (13.2%) healthy children with no reportable risk factors were colonized with CA-MRSA. All 9 strains were highly resistant to erythromycin and clindamycin and 8/9 strains were genetically related by PFGE (84). In another nasal colonization study among 123 healthy children, 73 were nasal *S. aureus* carriers and 4 (5.5%) were colonized with MRSA. Three of the 4 MRSA isolates were PVL positive (85). In the same study, 105 of 170 children who were patients (62%) were considered community-onset MRSA. In this study, children under the age of five years were two-fold more likely to have MRSA infection than older children (85).

Neonates are particularly susceptible to MRSA, and CA-MRSA has frequently been associated with outbreaks among neonatal intensive care units (NICU) (86-89). Transmission to and from colonized health care workers (HCWs) and family members have been identified as the source of these outbreaks (86-90). For instance, in two 2004 clusters of CA-MRSA in maternal-newborn units in Toronto, 41 babies were found to have been colonized or infected: 9 mothers and 7 of their babies were also infected or colonized (83). After several cultures, a nurse with eczema was confirmed as the likely source of transmission (83). The babies and mothers who were cared for by the nurse were 23 times more likely to be colonized or infected with MRSA (OR=22.7; 95% Cl 3.3-195.9) (83).

In general, studies have identified prior use of antimicrobials and daycare exposure as a risk for CA-MRSA among children, as well as vaginal delivery and maternal smoking of tobacco or marijuana (OR=5.44; 95% CI 1.69-17.6; P=0.05) (91–93). Further risks among children include low socioeconomic status represented by Medicaid insurance program and household crowding (94). Multivariate analysis of risk factors for MRSA nasal colonization among children found that black race and previous systemic infection were significantly associated; however, race is likely to be a confounder (94). Comorbidities such as atopic dermatitis have also been associated with MRSA, although not to the same degree as *S. aureus* (95). Conversely, a study by Niniou *et al.* (91) found in children with CA-MRSA infections that intrafamilial transmission of the infection was the only significant risk factor when comparing CA-MRSA and MSSA (91). The administering of systemic antimicrobials prior to caesarean section to non-smoking mothers (CI 0.004-0.93) and endotracheal intubation (CI 0.09-1.07) appeared to be associated with health care-associated MRSA as opposed to CA-MRSA (92).

#### Ethnic Groups

As previously mentioned, certain ethnic groups are associated with CA-MRSA infection. This is likely due to differences in socioeconomic status, crowded living conditions, less access to proper health care, education level, and poor personal hygiene rather than genetic factors. More recent CA-MRSA clusters among ethnic groups, such as Pacific Islanders, Inuit, and Aboriginals have been documented. In Canada (96,97), CA-MRSA was first reported in the late 1980s in aboriginal populations in Alberta. In August of 2006 and 2007, 43 cases of CA-MRSA were reported in a remote Inuit community in Nunavut (98). Cases primarily consisted of individuals aged five to nine years and twenty to twenty-nine years. Molecular testing confirmed that the available isolates were CMRSA-7 (USA400) and CMRSA-2 (USA100). The most common risk factors among the afflicted were previous exposure to a health care worker within the last year (83%), antibiotic use within the last year (65%), household contact with a MRSA positive individual (24%), and exposure to a person with a skin infection or condition (21%). A similar increase in CA-MRSA cases, particularly among individuals under twenty years, was also reported in an outbreak of Prairies' First Nations where socioeconomic status, crowded living conditions, and limited healthcare access were the most probable risk factors (99).

In a 2004 study, the prevalence of CA-MRSA carriage and infection among primary school children living in a small indigenous community in Queensland was assessed using nasal, throat, and skin swabs (100). Ninety-two (57%) of 157 eligible children were included in the study. Of the 92 children tested, 27 (29%) were colonized or infected with *S. aureus,* and of those children, 14 (15% of total) harboured MRSA. Three MRSA clonal groups were observed and 8 (9%) carried classic CA-MRSA strains (100).

Between 2000 and 2002, the State of Hawaii laboratory surveillance in ambulatory settings observed a pronounced increase in cases of MRSA. As such, in 2003 a retrospective study was conducted in which clinical outcome and identification of risk factors for CA-MRSA were identified (Estivariz et al., 2007). Microbiological records from four health care facilities with hospital and ambulatory clinic services in Oahu and Kauai from 2001–2003 were selected for the sample population. Overall, 1,389 patients were identified, 249 patients had insufficient information, and 389 (28%) were considered CA-MRSA cases. The study revealed that Pacific Islanders comprised the majority of CA-MRSA cases (51%), although, they represented only 24% of the total population. Sixty-three percent (148/259) of Pacific Islander adults and 24% (29/118) of children had comorbidity such as diabetes mellitus, asthma, and eczema/atomic dermatitis (101). In addition, receipt of prior antibiotics was associated with a higher risk for hospitalization. PFGE-tested isolates were 65% (26/40) USA300 strain; in addition, USA1000, USA1100, USA100 and USA800 were isolated.

#### Athletes

Athletes are a well established risk group for CA-MRSA illness and colonization. Participants of sports which are high contact, such as football, rugby, hockey, soccer, basketball, and wrestling are at risk for direct skin-to-skin contact; however, sports which are non-contact such as fencing, cross-country running, volleyball, baseball, canoeing, and weight lifting, are at risk likely due to sharing of facilities, equipment, and personal items such as towels, soap, and razors (102–106). In a recent paper by Archibald *et al.*, (107) a retrospective case-control study, an observational study and a microbiological survey of football players identified that water bottles and gloves were frequently shared among teammates, serving as a potential route of transmission. Additionally, exercise equipment and tackling equipment were not cleaned after every use (107). The findings also suggested that players were more likely to contract MRSA if they previously had a skin infection, had poor hygiene, were less aware of MRSA precautions, or were freshmen or a transfer student (107).

#### Drug Use

Injection drug use is a high risk activity for contracting bloodborne infections (108). In addition, skin and soft tissue infections (SSTI) are frequently reported among injection drug users (109). This is because of unhygienic situations in which the drugs are administered (i.e. sharing non-sterile syringes) (108). In addition, socioeconomic demographic groups, crowded housing or the use of crack houses, poor sanitation, sharing of drug paraphernalia, and unhygienic treatment of the skin have also been identified as risk factors rather than poor immune status (110). Past studies have indicated a high colonization rate of *S. aureus* among injection drug users and the ability of MSSA to colonize, which suggests drug use or shared drug paraphernalia as a potential route of transmission for MRSA (108,109).

In a matched case-control study conducted in California USA, Huang and colleagues (109) identified injection drug use as a significant risk factor for CA-MRSA as well as other potential risk factors for CA-MRSA in the community. From 127 CA-MSSA, 381 uninfected patients and 127 CA-MRSA culture positive cases, characteristics and demographic baselines were recorded. Cases were age and date matched with two control groups; randomly selected uninfected patients (glucose tested) and CA-MSSA infected patients from the same institution. The study found that 49% (AOR=2.11; 95% CI 1.1-4.3 & 4.09; 95% CI 2.2-7.5) of CA-MRSA cases had a history of injecting drug use (P<0.001), compared to only 17% and 9% of CA-MSSA and uninfected patients, respectively. The data also suggested that socioeconomic status was a risk factor for CA-MRSA.

Lower socioeconomic status was reported more frequently with CA-MRSA cases, possibly due to the relation to IDU, homelessness, or decreased hygienic conditions (109).

In another drug use case-control study conducted in Georgia, USA in 2005, risk factors (such as methamphetamine use) for MRSA SSTI among residents of a community with a large rural population were assessed (26). The study found 119 cases with SSTI infections, of which 81 (68.1%) were MRSA. Of those 81 patients, 15 were admitted methamphetamine users; 8 had MRSA SSTI, 5 were controls (non-SSTIs), and 2 had MSSA infections. All available MRSA isolates from 6 methamphetamine users and 21 non-users were USA300. MRSA cases were associated to methamphetamine usage (OR=5.10; 95% CI 1.55-16.79) in comparison to the control group. In addition, having a recent skin infection (AOR= 7.92; 95% CI 4.10-15.28), engaging in sexual acts with someone afflicted with a skin infection (AOR=5.42; 95% CI 1.68-17.50), picking of skin (AOR=2.53; 95% CI 1.22-5.23), and crowded living conditions (AOR=1.78; 95% CI 1.004-3.15) were associated with MRSA infections (26).

In a study to assess the relationship between drug abuse, length of drug use, route of administration, and CA-MRSA, 60 opiate addicts (inhalational and intravenous), 60 non-addict control patients, and 15 healthy volunteers from Cairo, Egypt were tested for MRSA colonization (108). The study found that the proportion of addicts with MRSA (colonized and/ or infection) was significantly higher than that of the non-addict MRSA group (P<0.01). No MRSA was isolated from healthy volunteers. Additionally, 58 addicts (in comparison to 7 non-addict controls) reported the misuse of antibiotics as a preventive measure against infections. Both injection and inhalational drug use were associated with MRSA colonization, particularly in the nose. Thirty-one of 60 (52%; P<0.05) addicts' nasal swabs were found to be MRSA positive in comparison to any other carriage location in both addict and non-addict groups. In addition, sputum, throat, blood, and pus were also positive swab locations and all had corresponding

positive nasal swabs. Thirty-five percent (6/17) of addicts who administered drugs by injection were found to be MRSA positive, while 55% (6/11) and 59% (19/32) addicts who administered drugs by inhalation and injection/inhalation combined were MRSA-positive. Furthermore, the results showed that MRSA infections increased with the increase in length of addiction. The authors speculate that addicts are more prone to MRSA infections possibly due to impaired immune systems (excluding HIV), unhygienic syringe use and drug administration, and the altering of the nasal mucosal integrity due to drug use (108).

In another study in 2004, an outbreak of USA300 MRSA was reported in Calgary, Alberta among an urban population with histories of drug use, homelessness, or incarceration (110). Of 40 cases, 28 (70%) had a history of illicit drug use, homelessness, or incarceration; 98% of the cases suffered from SSTI infections and 14 (50%) cases had hepatitis C comorbidity (110). Incidence rates among high risk and low risk individuals were 240.2 and 169.4 per 100,000 population, respectively. The authors also found a possible relationship with crack cocaine or cocaine use as a high risk activity; of the high risk group, 71% (20/28) reported using cocaine or crack cocaine. The sharing of drug paraphernalia, syringes, unhygienic drug use, social group networks, and wound care practices could serve as a possible means of transmission for CA-MRSA (110). For example, 4/12 crack pipes tested were positive for MSSA (110).

In 2005, Gilbert *et al.* (111) conducted a crosssectional prevalence study in the same demographic groups to measure the prevalence of colonization or infection with USA300 strain of MRSA, as well as to identify the factors associated with USA300 colonization or infection (111). From 271 study participants, the overall prevalence was estimated to be 5.5% (95% CI 3.1%-9.0%); colonization and infection with USA300 strain were 4.8% and 1.8%, respectively (111). Interestingly, 2 of 4 crackpipes sampled were positive for the USA300 strain, of which 1 crack pipe owner tested negative for MRSA. Of the 271 study participants, 55% (149) reported a history of homelessness and 95.2% (258) reported a history of illicit drug use. Living in crowded residence facilities, cocaine or crack cocaine use, borrowing crack pipes, using drugs at crack houses, or injectionrelated behaviours were not found to be associated with colonization or infection with USA300 strain. Other significant risk factors reported in the study were allowing others to manipulate skin infections, drug use with either a sex trade worker (STW) or with a client, with a casual sex partner, or with a regular sex partner. Cases were also more likely to have a greater number of binges, binges lasting five days or more, and used drugs multiple times during the day. In addition, cases were more likely to have had recent skin infections, self-administer old antibiotics, and seek medical attention.

#### Men who have Sex with Men

Men who have sex with men (MSM) are a wellknown risk group for CA-MRSA infections often due to the close person-to-person intimate contact, fecal carriage, and high risk sexual activities. Little information regarding CA-MRSA colonization and the potential for dissemination in the community has been gathered. Most studies reflect MSMs who are HIV-positive; however, more recent literature has shown that MSM behaviour, independent of HIV status, is a risk factor for CA-MRSA (112). A crosssectional study in Toronto, Ontario was conducted by Antoniou et al. (112) to determine the prevalence of CA-MRSA colonization in MSM cohorts. Of the 500 participants, 8 (1.6%; 95% CI 0.6-2.6%) were CA-MRSA positive from nasal or rectal or both swabs, of which 4 were from HIV-positive individuals. The prevalence was lower than expected and therefore it is likely that the true prevalence is low in that particular sampling area. There were no observable differences between the CA-MRSA positive and negative groups for variables within the previous three months for high risk sexual behaviours, antimicrobial use or treatment for a sexually transmitted infection.

Another recent Canadian study, which assessed and described the clinical characteristics and management

of CA-MRSA infections in a MSM cohort, reported that 17 patients (out of approximately 12,000 patients in the practice) were positive for MRSA, of which 12 were HIV-positive. The overall relevant results showed that antibiotic exposure within the previous six months was the most important risk factor for infection among the study participants (113).

Multidrug resistance among USA300 has been reported among certain risk groups such as MSM. In an attempt to investigate a multidrug-resistant USA300 cluster of infections in the San Francisco and Boston areas, Diep et al. (114) reported the incidence and risk factors of multidrug-resistant USA300 in San Francisco and Boston among MSM. This was accomplished by conducting four studies: a population-based study to determine the incidence and spatial clustering of multidrug-resistant USA300; two clinic-based cross-sectional surveys to identify risk factors; and a post hoc analysis of multidrugresistant USA300 isolates obtained from emergency departments. The researchers reported from the population-based survey that the MRSA incidence was 275 cases per100,000 persons (95% Cl 256-295/100000), with an annual incidence of multidrugresistant USA300 (containing the conjugative pUSA03 plasmid) of 26 cases per 100,000 persons (95% Cl 16-36/100000). In the HIV clinic-based study, 183 consecutive MRSA patients treated were selected and of those, 170 (93%) were USA300 and 30 of those were multidrug-resistant (16% of total MRSA cases). In comparison, the general population in San Francisco General Hospital had only 2% of cases that were MDR. Bivariate and multivariate analyses indicated male-male sex as a significant risk factor for multidrug-resistant USA300 infections (AOR=13.2; 95% CI 1.7-101.6; P<0.001) 95%. In addition, the use of antimicrobials and prior MRSA infections also showed a strong association with multidrug-resistant infections. In the community health clinic-based study, similar results were observed among MRSA patients. Of 130 MRSA patients, 126 (97%) had USA300 and 60 of those were multidrug-resistant (46%) of total MRSA). All of the patients with multidrugresistant MRSA were MSM and the information

available suggested that although HIV infection is a risk factor for multidrug-resistant USA300 infections, male-male sex is also an independent significant risk factor. Finally, in the emergency department study, 212 USA300 isolates from ER departments in 11 US cities identified only 2 multidrug-resistant isolates that carried the pUSA03 plasmid, of which 1 patient was MSM (114).

## Heterosexual High Risk Activities

High risk sexual activities are not restricted to MSM populations, but also involve those with heterosexual partners. Although not typically recognized as a risk factor for MRSA, direct person-to-person contact can serve as a means of transmission of the bacterium. The definition of high risk individuals in this instance is those who do not exercise proper precautions between infectious and non-infectious individuals and as a result allow for the transmission between partners. Cook et al. (115) conducted a prospective community-based study of the prevalence of CA-MRSA over a two-year period. Of interest, they examined three households in which heterosexual transmission of CA-MRSA likely occurred. In one household, a child contracted the CA-MRSA from her mother who had multiple partners and who reported that her husband and one partner had pimples. Although not isolated in nasal swabs, vaginal and groin swabs were positive for CA-MRSA and had identical PFGE patterns, suggesting sexual transmission. In the second household, a husband and wife both became infected multiple times. Nasal swabs from both persons were negative; however, groin and vaginal swabs were both positive and identical. The third household involved a woman who had recurrent MRSA abscesses which were linked by association to her boyfriend who suffered from infections while in the military. The woman consistently had negative nasal swabs but was positive on groin swabs (115). Overall, 10/345 (2.9%) of the index cases identified through the clinical microbiology database were positive for infection in the genital area, although, it is likely these numbers are underestimated.

Additional instances of genital CA-MRSA have been documented. For instance, in one case study, a man who had unprotected intercourse with an infected prostitute contracted a genital CA-MRSA infection, suggesting sexual transmission. He had no other risk factors for MRSA (116). In another case study documented by the same author, a healthy immunocompetent woman was also reported to have contracted MRSA from her sexual partner. A subsequent retrospective chart review of all patients presenting genital infections consistent with MRSA infections to the emergency department found that 18% of infections were confined to the genital region. Sexually transmitted CA-MRSA infections are likely to be underreported and more likely than previously believed (116).

#### Military

Although CA-MRSA clusters among those serving in the military are well documented in the literature, few reports have been published since 2006. Those serving in the military are particularly susceptible to becoming colonized or infected due to crowded living conditions, the sharing of barracks and personal items, use of contaminated equipment, poor access to laundering and bathing facilities, and unhygienic conditions (117). Military aviators may be at an even higher risk as there is an increase in shared life-support equipment, which is often not sanitized between uses (117). Overall, the prevalence of CA-MRSA is likely higher than reported as skin lesions are often misdiagnosed, for example, as spider bites (72).

## Veterinarians and Animal Handlers

Veterinarians and other individuals who work closely with animals have previously been identified as a risk group for CA-MRSA. Close contact with infected or colonized animals is the most significant high risk behaviour among this risk group. Hence, occupational health risk among veterinarians is well documented (118,119). For instance, one survey found that veterinarians were significantly more likely to be colonized with MRSA in comparison to those without animal exposure (3.9% vs. 0.7%; P=0.02) (120). The length of time spent with animals was also found to be associated with MRSA acquisition; however, exposure to pigs was not significant (120). In another survey which assessed the prevalence of MRSA nasal colonization and risk factors it was found that 6.5% (27 of 417) attendees at an international veterinary conference were colonized (119). The only significant variable for colonization was large animal practice (OR=2.9; 95% CI 1.2-6.6). Interestingly, only two MRSA clones were isolated from the nasal swabs – CMRSA-5 and CMRSA-2. CMRSA-5 (USA500) were only isolated from large animal personnel while CMRSA-2 were associated primarily with small-animal clinic personnel.

In another survey of veterinarians at an international swine conference, 12.5% (34/272) of participants were found to carry a *mecA*-positive *S. aureus* strain (121). Of these, 31 participants carried non-typeable strains but after spa-typing were classified as variants of ST398, a MRSA strain known to pass between pigs and humans (121). Diversity among the clones was found among the veterinarians; SCC*mecV* (n=24), IVa (n=3) and III (n=2). Univariate analysis found that MRSA carriage was associated with frequent (daily or a minimum of five hours per week) pig contact, while contact with cows, country of origin, and use of protective measures did not prove significant (121).

Frequent contact with colonized horses is also a source of MRSA infection among veterinarians and animal handlers. Among 257 survey participants at an equine conference, 26 (10.1%) were positive for MRSA (118). After multivariate analysis, four factors associated with MRSA acquisition were identified as having an MRSA positive equine patient, previous MRSA infection, hand washing between infectious cases, and hand washing between farms (118). The most common clones were equine clone USA500 (n=14), USA100 (n=9), and USA300 (n=1) (118).

Overall, these studies show the possibility of human MRSA colonization and infection due to close contact with colonized animals. Although it has previously been established that animals can become colonized with MRSA, putting veterinarians, technicians and those with close contact to animals at risk, it is important to note that the transmission pathway between animals is bi-directional and the identification of identical MRSA in both humans and animals simultaneously is not necessarily indicative of zoonotic transmission (122).

A cluster of MRSA cases among family members of a pig farmer, his pigs and co-workers was investigated in 2004 in Denmark (123). After unsuccessful treatment of a young mother with mastitis, her family was screened for MRSA. Her baby daughter and husband were also found to be colonized six month later. In an attempt to find the reservoir of the MRSA, pigs and farming co-workers on the farm were also screened. In total, ten pigs were randomly selected from the holdings closest to the home and swabbed. Family members and co-workers received throat and nasal swabs. The results showed that 3 family members, 3 co-workers, and 8/10 pigs were colonized with MRSA. Only the mother and child were affected clinically. All pig MRSA isolates were non-typeable by PFGE and were identical to the human MRSA isolates. The results indicated that this cluster of cases was not only zoonotic in origin but also transmitted person-to-person (123).

#### **HIV Infection**

In a recent study, CA-MRSA infections among HIV positive individuals from 1993 to 2005 were analyzed for trends, infection rates, and risk factors. In total, 435 HIV-positive individuals were assessed, of which, 31 were positive for MRSA. Twenty-nine of those were considered CA-MRSA-positive, and 26 were reportedly SSTI. There were no significant differences in demographic characteristics of HIVpositive and uninfected individuals. Risk factors observed in this study after multivariate analysis were the recent use of beta-lactams (OR=2.46 for the receipt of 1 prescription, P<0.001), low current CD4 counts (OR per 100 CD4 cells=0.84, P=0.03), a higher HIV maximum log10 HIV viral load (OR=4.54, P<0.001), and a history of syphilis/high risk sexual activity (OR=4.55, P=0.01). Overall, the HIV-positive population in the study had an 18-fold higher infection rate than the general public (124).

### Tattoo Recipients

Between 2004 and 2005, six unrelated clusters of SSTI caused by CA-MRSA were reported among 44 tattoo recipients from 13 unlicensed tattoo artists in Ohio, Kentucky, and Vermont (89). There were 34 primary and 10 secondary USA300 cases who were otherwise healthy reported during the outbreaks; one Ohio patient reportedly suffered from hepatitis C. Although gloves were often worn during tattooing, other hygienic infection control measures were frequently not observed and gloves were often not changed between clients. Furthermore, lesions were also observed on the hands of tattooists. Secondary cases were likely to have occurred through person-toperson contact. These clusters of CA-MRSA illustrate the importance of personal protective equipment and infection control procedures in preventing transmission of the bacterium.

# *Living with a Carrier or Case of CA-MRSA (Familial Transmission)*

Close contact and shared environment/fomites with a carrier or an infected individual is a known risk for contracting CA-MRSA. Zafar and associates (125) designed a study to assess the frequency of nasal colonization with CA-MRSA among CA-MRSA patients and members of their households over an eighteenmonth period. In total, 51 patients were enrolled into the study, 18 of which did not have household members. High colonization rates in patients and high MRSA and MSSA rates among household members were observed. Of the 51 enrolled patients, 21 (41%) were colonized with MRSA. In addition, 10/49 (20%) household members were colonized and carried the same PFGE pattern as the corresponding patient. The risk for MRSA colonization among household members was highest for parents of the patient. Although household associations were not found to be significant, it is worthwhile to note that the sample size was small and likely to have insufficient power to detect real differences were they to exist. From 76 isolates obtained from both infective and colonized cases, 68 were deemed related and only 4 possessed unique PFGE patterns (125).

In another study conducted in Hong Kong in 2004– 2005, patients presenting with CA-MRSA infections who were reported to a monitoring system were recruited for a study to screen household members prospectively (126). Through the reporting system, 24 episodes of SSTI and 1 case of meningitis caused by CA-MRSA were identified among 23 patients. The 23 patients belonged to 21 unrelated families, of which 12 families (46 members) participated. In total, 2 infections and 4 carriers (13%) of CA-MRSA were identified amongst 2 families through nasal, axillary skin, and cutaneous wounds. Interfamilial transmission was confirmed through PFGE analysis (126).

Multiple occurrences of familial transmission of CA-MRSA were also documented in a two year Dutch study (123). During the study period, 10 PVL- MRSA familial transmissions were observed; 7/10 had skin infections and 6 families had a link with a foreign country (123). Twenty-seven MRSA isolates were assessed using PFGE, spa-typing, and multilocus sequence typing; members within a household carried the same strains, indicating familial transmission. The most common transmission involved parent to child or vice versa, although multiple transmissions between siblings and parents were also observed. Of note, one family had both PVL-negative and PVL-positive strains within the same household. Similar strains were found between families and it was later discovered that those families lived within the same neighbourhood. Overall, 7/10 families carried USA300 strains of MRSA, while the remaining 3 families carried the ST59 strain (123).

### Emergency Department and Hospitalized Patients

It has been previously believed that certain MRSA clones were exclusively confined to either the hospital or community environments. However, more recent research has identified the encroachment of CA-MRSA strains into the hospital setting and in some instances causing outbreaks (127). According to the 2006-2007 Canadian Nosocomial Infection Surveillance Program (CNISP) results, there was an overall minor increase in MRSA cases (1%) from 2006 to 2007; however, among those cases reported by CNISP hospitals, there was a CA-MRSA increase of 6% (128). This raises concerns as CA-MRSA which appears to be more virulent is now among a population of compromised patients (127). The following studies validate the movement of CA-MRSA into the hospital environment and the replacement of classic HA-MRSA clones.

To investigate the shift in CA-MRSA to the health care setting, Popovich et al. (129) conducted a study to describe the epidemiology of seven years of MRSA bloodstream infections by using phenotypic and genotypic analysis and by reviewing charts and collecting patient-level information to determine risk factors for MRSA (129). The study identified an increase of 24-49% in community-genotypes over the time span of Jan 2000 to June 2003 and July 2003 to Dec 2006. In contrast, hospital-onset MRSA occurrences remained stable throughout the study period. The risk for hospital MRSA bloodstream infection due to a community strain increased in comparison to hospital strains causing hospitalonset illnesses. Moreover, there was a significant decrease in clindamycin, gentamicin, and ciprofloxacin resistance which corresponded to the increase in CA-MRSA strains (129). Upon multivariate analysis there were no significant risk factors for infection caused by CA-MRSA in comparison to HA-MRSA. It is important to note that although CA-MRSA and HA-MRSA strains were identified, the authors did not determine if the patients were actually colonized prior to hospital-onset.

In a similar study in Taiwan, researchers examined the distribution of SCC*mec* types among 382 HA-MRSA and 26 CA-MRSA isolates obtained over a 7 year study period. While SCC*mec* IV was predominately associated with CA-MRSA, 3-20% of HA-MRSA were SCC*mec* IV isolates from 1999-2004. However, a substantial shift was noted in 2005 where the prevalence increased to 43%. Overall, CA-MRSA patients were observed to be younger than HA-MRSA patients. Additionally, CA-MRSA strains (including hospital-associated SCC*mec* IV) were found to be

susceptible to antimicrobials. Molecular testing of the isolates found three major clusters that accounted for 77% of the isolates. From those clusters it was found that the pulsotypes B and C, which contained SCC*mec* types IV and V, had spread between the community and the hospital environments (130).

A retrospective study in Alabama examined MRSA isolates from 2000-2004 to determine when CA-MRSA first emerged in both outpatients and inpatients, as well as to determine the overall MRSA population dynamics (131). Two hundred and fiftythree study isolates were selected at random from the surveillance isolate bank based upon source location. Patient medical records were also concurrently reviewed to establish the isolates as HA-MRSA or CA-MRSA. Molecular analysis of the isolates found that the USA300 genotype was first isolated in the outpatient population in 2001 (2/15) and in 2003 (1/36) for the inpatient population. In 2004, the highest prevalence of USA300 was observed in both inpatient (14/35) and outpatient populations (8/14). Overall, USA300 was the second most common (8.4%) pulsotype found among HA-MRSA isolates (131). CA-MRSA strain USA300 was not only strongly associated to CA-MRSA patients but also found among hospitalized patients suggesting the shift of dominance in traditional hospital strains (131).

The University Hospital Basel in Switzerland, which has an overall low MRSA prevalence, tested inpatient strains from 2000-2004 (excluding epidemic and outpatient isolates) to determine if the presence of SCCmec IV and PVL corresponded with the epidemiological information obtained from patients (132). In total, 77 isolates from sporadic cases were analyzed; 14.3% (11) were classified CA-MRSA and 85.7% (66) were classified HA-MRSA. The majority of the analyzed strains originated from colonized patients (75.8%), while only 24.2% were came from infections. Among those, SCCmec IV/IVa was the most frequently isolated (42.9%) from patients; the rate of SCCmec IV/IVa also increased from 33.3% to 57.9% from 2000 to 2004 and the rate of SCCmec IV/IVa from HA-MRSA strains also increased from 33.3% to 66.7% (132). Overall, sporadic cases of

CA-MRSA have increased in the hospital environment and consequently are replacing well known hospital strains of MRSA (132).

Finally, Huang et al. (133) in a retrospective case study described and compared the characteristics associated with CA-MRSA and HA-MRSA infections in patients at UC-Davis Medical Center from December 2003 to May 2004 (133). The study identified 283 MRSA patients; 127 (44.9%) met CA-MRSA classification and 156 (55.1%) were classified as HA-MRSA. USA300 was found significantly more often among CA-MRSA isolates (87%, 108/124), although it was also found among HA-MRSA isolates (33%, 48 of 147 P<0.001. Similar to the previously mentioned Taiwan study, HA-MRSA USA300 strains were significantly (P<0.01) less resistant to antimicrobials in comparison to other HA-MRSA strains; however, USA300 from CA-MRSA sources were significantly less resistant to ciprofloxacin than HA-MRSA strains.

What can be taken from these studies is that overall, classic HA-MRSA clones which have dominated the hospital environment appear to becoming replaced by less resistant CA-MRSA clones. CA-MRSA could have a lower cost of fitness (or increased energy efficiency) due to the lack of resistance genes, allowing it to outcompete HA-MRSA (127). In addition, the apparent increased growth rate may also be beneficial for CA-MRSA strains. Alternatively, increased colonization in the community could be responsible for the influx of patients into the hospital. To prevent the further development of antimicrobial resistance, three control approaches were proposed by Wenzel et al. (127): limit the introduction of the microorganism into the community and healthcare settings, establish effective antibiotic stewardship, and promote infection control policies and procedures to prevent the transmission of the microorganism (127).

## **Reservoirs and Transmission**

Person-to-person and zoonotic transmission of CA-MRSA have been well documented and are not reviewed here. Instead, we focus on recent studies which identify other potential transmission modes.

#### Potential for Waterborne Transmission

The survival dynamics of fourteen HA- and two CA-MRSA strains were examined by Tolba and colleagues (134) in samples of aquatic (river), marine (sea), and recreational (pool) water (134). No significant differences between HA-MRSA and CA-MRSA strains were observed in survival dynamics; however, both river and seawater samples survived longer than recreational water. Enumeration of MRSA strains in pool water samples was not able to detect viable organisms after two days. Both river and seawater sustained MRSA for up to fourteen days post-inoculation; however, seawater had significantly higher (P=0.02) bacterial counts than river water (134). These results demonstrate the potential for waterborne transmission of MRSA and particularly for the need of proper recreational water chlorination. However, it is hypothesized that given the dilution factor and large inoculation dose needed to reach critical counts to elicit a human infection, the likelihood of infection is quite low (134).

#### Routes for Indirect Person-to-Person Transmission

Potential indirect person-to-person transmission routes have also been identified. In these cases, a contaminated fomite or environmental source could serve as the means of transmission. These previously unrecognized sources should be considered when examining methods for infection control or prevention.

## Scuba diving equipment

Although previously not considered a risk factor, the improper cleaning or sharing of scuba diving equipment may be a possible transmission route for MRSA (135). Two instances of CA-MRSA infections, both males from Switzerland with unremarkable medical histories, were reported among scuba divers in the Philippines. The strains isolated from the two divers were clonally related and consistent with the Philippines strain. Although the exact source of the infections could not be isolated, it was hypothesized that the use of rented scuba gear was the source (135). Because scuba gear is infrequently cleaned between uses, this poses a likely source of transmission between gear and users (135).

#### Coins

It has been previously established that currency (banknotes and coins) may harbour a plethora of microorganisms which in turn can be transmitted person-to-person through money exchange (136). Because S. aureus has been isolated previously from currency, the survival dynamics of MRSA was examined on coins (136). Using two strains of CA-MRSA and twelve strains of HA-MRSA, coins were inoculated both directly and with organic matter (pus and blood). Lengths of survival time and enumeration counts on the various mediums were measured. This study found MRSA was not detectable on coins inoculated directly with MRSA after twenty-four hours; however, coins which were inoculated with an organic substrate (pus and blood) and MRSA had survival times up to thirteen days. A 1 log and 2 log cfu/coin reduction in counts for blood and pus, respectively, was observed. Overall, there was no significant difference between the survival of CA-MRSA and HA-MRSA strains. These findings are particularly important given the association between contaminated hands and MRSA and the potential for cross-contamination between coins and hands (136).

#### Dentures

Prior studies have identified the oral cavity and dentures as harbouring MSSA and MRSA and that they may as a result serve as a reservoir and a source of re-infection (137). A study to identify the survival dynamics of planktonic HA- and CA-MRSA strains in five popular denture cleaning solutions was conducted. Quantitative enumeration of the solutions post-inoculation showed that the denture cleaning products were able to eliminate the strains after ten minutes. No statistical significance was observed in difference between survival of HA-MRSA and CA-MRSA strains (137). Further study is needed to identify the survival dynamics of these strains under biofilm conditions on dentures. Overall, waterborne and indirect person-to-person transmission present previously unidentified routes for possible CA-MRSA infection. It is worthwhile to note, however, that these routes have received limited appraisal and are limited to laboratory and case study information, therefore further study is warranted to examine the likelihood and validity of these claims.

## **Proposed Control Options**

There are a number of excellent guidelines published within the past decade that have outlined suggested control and prevention methods for general and specific populations (28,138-145). While some of these guidelines are focused on nosocomial MRSA and the hospital setting, others present the best-available information on CA-MRSA control and prevention. Due to the relative lack of specific literature on the efficacy of approaches to control and prevention of CA-MRSA, selected relevant HA-MRSA inventions were included to provide the reader with the available information on approaches that may be effective. In some instances, HA-MRSA guidelines may be used as a supplement to the available knowledge and extrapolated to the community setting (34).

Based on the epidemiology of CA-MRSA, the following control measures have been proposed as biologically plausible (though, as yet, largely unproven) ways to control the spread of the microorganism:

- Hand and personal hygiene
- Prudent use of antibiotics
- Decolonization
- Early diagnosis and appropriate treatment
- Public education programs (hygiene, antibiotic use)
- Regular cleaning and laundering in households and facilities
- Equipment disinfection
- Exclusion of those with open lesions from certain settings

We present here an overview of recent literature which addresses these proposed approaches.

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, CA-MRSA can be controlled by limiting transmission through the 5Cs: crowding, frequent skin contact, compromised skin, sharing contaminated personal items, and lack of cleanliness (3). Certain groups are more greatly affected by CA-MRSA possibly because there is less control over these factors (3).

## Hand and Personal Hygiene

Hands can become contaminated with a multitude of microorganisms by interactions with fomites/ environmental sources, personal interaction, diagnostic procedures, administration of food or medicines, and manipulation of indwelling devices (146). In general, hand hygiene is a critical infection control method for both resistant and susceptible microorganisms. Proper hand hygiene practices are commonly cited in papers as a means to control the dissemination of microorganisms. For example, studies on hand hygiene over the past decade of research reported a decrease in MRSA incidence in the hospital which correlated with the introduction of alcohol-based hand rub campaigns (147). Most hand hygiene practices are based upon national standards for the control of the spread of microorganisms (148). In most instances, the "social hand wash" is performed, which is meant to remove transient microorganisms and debris (148). However, according to a systematic review of hand washing techniques in primary care and the community, there is a lack of well-designed studies to assess the effectiveness of hand washing hygiene (148). Factors such as water quality, natural hand flora, hand scrubbing time, hand position, and water direction may also play a role in the elimination of pathogens on hands (148). Additionally, increased compliance with hand hygiene often corresponds to the ease and time efficiency of hand sanitization pumps (149). A survey on hand hygiene in hospitals noted that compliance to hand hygiene campaigns was at best 66% (147). Most common reasons for non-compliance were poor accessibility to sinks, towels or hand rubs, lack of training/education and leadership, and personal lack of recognition of the

importance of good hand hygiene (147). To the best of our knowledge, CA-MRSA hand washing efficacy studies have not been reported. Further study at the community level is needed to properly describe the most effective method of hand washing. On the whole, proper hand hygiene and strict compliance to standard precautions could prevent most cases of cross-transmission without the need of identification of human reservoirs (149).

As previously mentioned, CA-MRSA is transmitted most often through person-to-person contact. Therefore, in addition to good hand hygiene, overall personal hygiene is important to maintain (34,150,151). Proper hygiene is of particular importance to athletes due to the close contact. For instance, it is important for all athletes to shower immediately following all practices and games and before entering the athletic training room. They should always wash with liquid soap (not bars of soap), and antimicrobial soaps, such as 4% chlorhexidine, should be intermittently used during the athletic season (Rogers, 2008). The CDC in 2002 also reported that the use of alcohol-based hand rubs is more effective than 3% chlorhexidine soaps (Benjamin et al., 2007). Because of the rise of MRSA in the community, there is a need to re-emphasize the role of personal hygiene and other prevention methods which limit the transmission of MRSA between household members, communities, and hospitals (Humphreys, 2009).

## Prudent Use of Antibiotics

There is some literature on the effects of antimicrobial use, and CA-MRSA and resistance in HA-MRSA has been frequently reported in the literature as having an association with antimicrobial use. Many papers have examined the relationship between betalactam, fluoroquinolone and macrolide use and the increase in resistance amongst MSSA and MRSA (154–156). A significant association between the use of fluoroquinolones and colonization with MRSA has been observed (154,155).

In the hospital it is suggested that antibiotic selection pressure greatly facilitates the acquisition and

colonization with MRSA by decreasing competitive commensal flora (149). A recent systematic review found a significant association for fluoroquinolones (RR=3; 95% CI 1.7-1.9; P<0.001), cephalosporins (RR=2.2; 95% CI 1.7-2.9;), glycopeptides (RR=2.9; 95% CI 2.4-3.5), and beta-lactams (RR=1.9; 95% CI 1.7-2.2) with MRSA isolation (156). Generally, the use of antimicrobials can have several negative ecological effects on MRSA transmission and survival such as: decreasing susceptible skin microflora thereby increasing the risk of MRSA colonization; increased transmission due to the selection of MRSA through antimicrobial use; antimicrobial selection pressure may cause levels of MRSA shedding to increase; indirect elimination of competitive susceptible organisms (MSSA) could inadvertently increase MRSA within the population (157).

Specifically, fluoroquinolones most likely allow for colonization because they disrupt the microflora and allow resistant strains to occupy the available niche and increase bacterial adhesion with fibronectin (154,156). Consequently, the restricted use of fluoroquinolones may decrease MRSA rates (149). This observation was noted in one study in which, upon the removal of selection pressure, MRSA isolation rates decreased (155). A multitude of observational studies have concluded that antimicrobial usage results in a parallel change in the incidence of MRSA; however, there are relatively few intervention studies examining the relationship between antimicrobial use and MRSA incidence (157). Harbarth and Samore (157) have suggested that the use of a time-series analysis which uses aggregate ecological level data could help eliminate confounding which has been found among traditional epidemiological studies. Overall, there is a significant gap in knowledge of what actually happens to MRSA incidence when an antibiotic intervention is implemented (157).

#### Decolonization

Carriage of MRSA is an important risk factor for infection and also may aid in dissemination of the microorganism (149). Mupirocin nasal ointment is often used to eradicate carriage because of its effectiveness, safety, and economical feasibility; however, there is debate over its true success rate for long-term eradication (149). It is commonly stated that decolonization should not be conducted in patients with active infections. The use of topical treatments should be used first before the use of systemic medications, and in the case of CA-MRSA, cleaning of the environment and household screening for MRSA should be conducted (146). In addition, the possibility of mupirocin resistance should be considered when using as a decolonization treatment (146).

#### Early Diagnosis and Appropriate Treatment

Unknown MRSA carriers constitute the main reservoir for MRSA and are therefore key for further transmission. Thus the screening and identification of carriers, specifically among high risk groups, is very important in cases of outbreaks or in the hospital environment (149). In the hospital, infection control methods such as active surveillance screening of patients to detect MRSA have proven to be effective particularly in outbreak situations (3). At the community level, early identification and diagnosis of CA-MRSA infections is critical to the management of disease, as well as the prevention of spread to household members and others in the community (158). Rapid screening using molecular methods would decrease the waiting period and allow for faster diagnosis and assignment of proper treatment thereby decreasing the possibility of transmission in the interim (149). The effectiveness of costly nasal surveillance has not been demonstrated in the general community (3). Additionally, because CA-MRSA is likely to colonize sites other than the nares, there is a possibility for a proportion of colonized individuals to be missed (34). To identify trends of CA-MRSA in the community and hospitals, health officials could make CA-MRSA a reportable disease (158).

Risk factors and community levels of resistance should be considered when prescribing antibiotics for CA-MRSA (150). Empiric therapy should be aimed to avoid adding selective pressure for the development of antimicrobial resistance (150).

## Public Education Programs

Education of basic proper preventative measures and identification of CA-MRSA should be implemented in both the community and health care settings. In addition, the education of high-risk groups such as athletes, trainers, physiotherapists, coaches, teachers, and school nurses should be enforced to help in the early identification and management of CA-MRSA infections (152,153). The use of posters, handouts, presentations, and other means of training should be used as teaching tools (152).

# Regular Cleaning and Laundering in Households and Facilities

Towels, sleepwear, and underwear should be laundered daily to reduce the possibility of reinfection or cross-contamination within a household (158). Standard laundering guidelines for towels and uniforms state that they must be washed using standard detergent in water that is at least 140F (60°C) and clothing must be dried on a hot setting or hung to completely dry (152). Clothing that has become contaminated with wound exudates should be laundered immediately with hot water and laundry detergent to avoid cross-contamination (34). In addition, personal items such as razors or items which come in close contact with the body should never be shared (34).

## Environmental Cleaning

Environmental cleaning is essential to prevent crosscontamination and re-infection of individuals.

In addition to commonly shared surfaces in households, stethoscopes, locker rooms, artificial turf, workout rooms and equipment, shoes, and uniforms should also be considered for cleaning to prevent transmission of CA-MRSA among certain risk groups (152,158,159). Approved detergents and disinfectants and cleaning top-down should be used on all surfaces that come in contact with secretions or wound drainage (34,147). Depending on the situation, decontamination methods may be chosen based upon the level of environmental contamination and the risk posed for other individuals and patients for re-infection (146). Frequently touched surfaces should be thoroughly cleaned to prevent cross-contamination (146). Although the impact of environmental cleanliness is not as critical as hand hygiene in the prevention of transmission, when combined with proper infection control procedures, environmental control proves beneficial by decreasing microbial counts for a given period of time (146,147,149).

# *Exclusion of Those with Open Lesions from Certain Settings*

Because of the frequent skin-to-skin contact in sports, particularly in contact sports in which skin may become compromised during the game, CA-MRSA infections can easily spread between team members if there is a lack of preventative measures in place. In general, athletes, according to the NCAA standards, may be excluded from play if there are wounds that cannot be covered with appropriate bandages. In addition, wrestlers specifically are only allowed to return to play if they do not present new lesions within forty-eight hours of a meet and confirmed cases of CA-MRSA have to complete seventy-two hours of antibiotic therapy and have no active lesions at the time of the meet (152).

## Specific Evaluation Studies of Control Options

As previously mentioned, there is limited information that specifically evaluates CA-MRSA interventions. To our knowledge, there is only one intervention study (160) which specifically evaluated the efficacy of CA-MRSA interventions in the community. However, intervention studies based on body washes, environmental decontamination, decolonization, and other methods relating to hospital environments have been documented. These interventions may be of relevance to CA-MRSA although this remains largely unproven.

#### Decolonization

Mupirocin is an antimicrobial that is used for topical decolonization treatment of the anterior nares to reduce/eliminate *S. aureus* (160). Mupirocin-resistant strains are reported among MRSA and can result from indiscriminate use or overuse of mupirocin. Although still under debate, the elimination of MRSA carriage may greatly reduce the risk of infection (161). Decolonization of MRSA in the hospital outbreak setting has variable results with respect to efficacy, although many studies have shown that targeted decolonization in outbreak situations was effective (161,162). Long-term eradication of MRSA has not been reliably shown in the literature, although some short-term success has been cited.

Ellis and associates (160) carried out a cluster randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial to determine if prompt, targeted use of intranasal mupirocin in CA-MRSA colonized soldiers would not only reduce the risk of infection in the colonized individual but also deter new colonization within the unaffected surrounding population and reduce the risk of infection within the study group. United States Army personnel enrolled in the 16-week Health Care Specialist Course from January to Dec 2005 were eligible for recruitment. Of the eligible participants, 3,447 were cultured and randomized to groups; 7 classes representing 1,669 and 1,779 individuals were randomly assigned to the placebo and treatment groups, respectively. Initially, CA-MRSA carriage was found in 3.9% (134) participants; 66 were randomized into the placebo group and 68 in the mupirocin group. Treatment of 2% intranasal mupirocin and a placebo were administered to the CA-MRSA positive participants. The groups were re-screened at eight to ten weeks and placed under observation for sixteen weeks. Five of 65 (7.7%; 95% CI 4.0-11.4%) and 7 of 66 (10.6%; 95% CI 7.9-13.3%) mupirocin and placebo group, respectively, developed CA-MRSA infections during the course of the study. Among individuals not initially colonized by CA-MRSA, 56/1607 (3.5%; 95% CI 2.6-5.2%) of the treatment group and 63/1,459 (4.3%; 95% CI 2.7-5.9%) of the placebo group became infected. At the

eight to ten week re-screening, CA-MRSA colonization decreased from 4.0% (95% CI 1.1-6.9%) to 3.2% (95% CI 1.0-5.5%) in the placebo group and from 3.8% (95% CI 1.9-5.7%) to 1.9% (95% CI 1.1-2.8%) in the mupirocin group. New CA-MRSA colonization was reported in 24/1459 (1.6%; 95% CI 0.05-2.8%) and 23/1607 (1.4%; 95% CI 0.05-2.3%) of placebo and mupirocin groups, respectively. The most common type of CA-MRSA was USA300 (54%) followed by USA800 (40%); only 1 case of USA100 was identified. No mupirocin resistance was detected during the course of the study. In conclusion, the authors found no significant reduction in CA-MRSA infections or colonization in the mupirocin group.

#### Environmental Decontamination

The failure of decolonization/reoccurrence of MRSA in an individual has often been attributed to reinfection through environmental contamination, such as in the work place (hospital environment) and the home (163). Previous studies have identified MRSA survival in dust and on surfaces for up to five weeks (163). Household environments present an increased difficulty when considering appropriate cleaning agents in comparison to hospital environments. Typically, porous materials and surfaces cannot be as easily cleaned and, in addition, certain industrial strength cleaners are not appropriate for household furniture (163).

In the home environment, pets, family members, and fomites/surfaces can act as reservoirs causing re-infection (163). To evaluate the effectiveness of home environmental decontamination using gaseous ozone, the household of a repeatedly infected nurse with eczema was decontaminated. In December 2001, the nurse who suffered from eczema was involved in a hospital cluster of MRSA cases involving two patients and two additional nurses. Although the patients and nursing staff recovered, the index nurse continually became re-infected with MRSA despite several antimicrobial treatment interventions. Environmental screening of her household was conducted and 11/32 (34%) household swabs were MRSA-positive; however, her children and cat were MRSA-negative. Her house was then decontaminated by first discarding carpet, couches and curtains and then sealing each room and using gaseous ozone (estimated to be 12 ppm) for a ten to twenty-four hour period. The household was sampled two days later and found to be free of MRSA. After decontamination of the household, the nurse and her family/pet remained MRSA-negative for the duration of the study period (September 2005). This study indicates a possible alternative to previously established household cleaning methods (steam, cleaning of all hard furnishing with detergent, damp dusted, vacuumed, replacement of furniture). The study cited the cost savings of using the ozone technique compared with that of other approaches. It is worthwhile to note that although environmental contamination appears to be a likely source for reinfection, limited, targeted community-based studies have been conducted on environmental contamination control methods.

### Hand Washing and Hand Hygiene

Because contaminated hands are one of the most important methods of MRSA transmission, hand washing and hand hygiene are critical in preventing MRSA colonization or infection. Compounding the hand hygiene issue, poor hand washing compliance between patients is often observed in hospitals in health care workers (HCW) and physicians. This could be extrapolated back to the community for households that have a family member who is MRSA-positive. It should be noted that information regarding *S. aureus* hand hygiene was not included in this review.

An observational study was conducted to determine the efficacy of a 2% chlorhexidine gluconate solution against five MRSA strains (USA300, USA400, USA500, USA600, USA700) and two *Acinetobacter baumannii* strains (164). This was accomplished by observing the bacterial time-kill and the corresponding minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) value for each microorganism. More specifically, the MIC was determined using a broth macrodilution procedure and the time-kill analysis was determined based on the exposure of the culture suspension to 2% chlorhexidine for 15 seconds and 1, 3, 6, 9, 12, and 15 minutes (164). The results of the experiment demonstrated that 2% chlohexidine was able to reduce bacterial counts by 99.9% within 3 minutes. MIC values for the test strains were 1:2,048 and 1:8,192 prepared from the stock 2% chlorhexidine solution. Chlorhexidine gluconate treatment is an effective alternative to ionophores, which may become deactivated by bodily fluids, and is safer than flammable alcohol (164).

### Education of Health Care Workers

CA-MRSA typically manifests as SSTI infections and as such dermatologists may be among the clinicians who encounter many cases (165). Eighteen non-cosmetic dermatologists forming three focus groups participated in discussions regarding the awareness and perceptions of CA-MRSA, the number of CA-MRSA infections treated in the previous year, the relevant clinical practice, and the best content and format for educational materials (165). The results of the case scenario from the focus groups indicated that the participants only initially identified CA-MRSA in 3% of skin lesions presented to the dermatologist. When asked about diagnosis and treatment options for a patient presenting with a skin lesion, culturing the lesion was conducted in 31% of cases. When given further clinical information on the lesion case, participants described that they would perform incision and drainage on the abscess (46%). The most frequent method for managing the patient presenting with the skin lesion was the prescribing of antimicrobials (33%). Only 38% of the participants discussed transmission and contagiousness of the wound with their patients. Despite standardized guidelines for the identification of and treatment protocols, there was a notable disparity in treatment approaches and identification ability. Although the participants acknowledged that CA-MRSA was a significant problem, only half reported it being a problem in their practice and 94% of the participants reported treating a CA-MRSA positive patient within the previous twelve months. When a suspected case

of CA-MRSA was observed, 90% of participants reported always obtaining a culture, 42% performed incision and drainage, and most reported giving instructions to the patients on personal hygiene, wound care, and general management of the illness. Most participants felt journal articles were the best way to convey CA-MRSA information, while the most effective method of conveying information to patients was felt to be pamphlets or tear-off information sheets. Understanding the awareness and treatment strategies of dermatologists for CA-MRSA is critical for the development of effective infection control guidelines and educational materials for infected/ colonized individuals.

Infected or colonized HCWs can spread pathogenic microorganisms, such as MRSA, throughout the work environment. In Norway, half of the reported MRSA cases originated outside of the hospitals and 108/603 were in long-term care facilities; 10% of the MRSA cases were with HCWs. Because patients in nursing homes often require extensive close contact for assistance, the duration of patient care is strongly associated with the amount of bacterial contamination on HCWs' hands (166). A study evaluating the infection control procedures, particularly focusing on MRSA, in nursing homes in Oslo, Norway was conducted (166). In total, 42/55 (76.4%) of nursing homes in Oslo were included in the study; 388/528 questionnaires were retrieved. Overall, only 17% of the caregivers had experienced MRSA within their wards. Notable findings in the study were: 70% of the personnel had no specific training in health care; of the educated individuals, 52% were nurses and 45% were enrolled nurses. According to the Norwegian national policy, personnel should be tested before entering work in an institution if they have possible

exposure to MRSA in Norway or other counties. Although most managers, caregivers, and nursing staff reported written policies for infection control in their facilities, approximately 30% of facilities had written policies for screening and control of personnel before beginning work. Screening guidelines of patients during outbreaks were reported in 89–96% of respondents; only 80% of the caregivers and managers reported testing all personnel and all patients in the ward in outbreaks. A hand hygiene program was instituted in 2004; however, there has been limited evaluation of its effectiveness in nursing homes. Because hand hygiene is so integral to MRSA transmission, further study is needed of this issue.

## **Results: Resistant Enteric Bacteria**

Unlike for CA-MRSA, there are no guidelines or review papers on the epidemiology, microbiology, or control of resistant enteric organisms in community settings. Rather, literature exists in two areas, the development and spread of resistance within enteric bacteria, and the risks, transmission, and control options for enteric bacteria (regardless of resistance status). Therefore, information was summarized for *Salmonella* spp., *Campylobacter* spp., verocytotoxigenic *E. coli*, and *Shigella* spp. generally, and then combined with existing knowledge on the development and spread of resistance for extrapolation to resistant enteric organisms. The literature search encompassed material from 1970 to present.

## Risk Factors and Risk Groups (Both Non-Resistant and Resistant Cases)

#### Day care Centres

Day care centres are a high risk environment for the spread of enteric bacteria, given the age of the children and the potential for person-to-person transmission. Opportunities for transmission of bacteria include non-toilet trained children, staff both preparing food and changing diapers, low staff-tochild ratio, poor hygiene, and the likelihood that children will have oral contact with contaminated hands and objects (167,168). Typically, children under three years of age have a higher incidence of diarrheal illness than older children (169). Hiruta et al. (170) found a significant increase in diarrheal incidence in one year olds compared with the rest of the age groups (up to six years old). Day care centres in which staff prepared and served food and changed diapers were reported to have a 3.3 times higher incidence of diarrheal illnesses than centres in which staff did not combine these activities. These results illustrate the role day care staff may play in transmission of disease and the importance of good hand hygiene practices (169).

Much of the published literature related to the epidemiology of enteric illness in day care centers has focused on outbreaks, and these studies are reviewed here. Such studies have investigated the source, transmission pathways, and identified control points to stop further spread of infection (171).

Common enteric bacteria that cause outbreaks in day care centres include *Shigella sonnei* (171–174), Salmonella typhimurium (174,175), and *E. coli* O157:H7 (176,177). Hiruta *et al.* (170) reported that all isolates tested from children involved in an *E. coli* O26:H11 outbreak were found to be resistant to multiple antimicrobials.

To manage day care centre outbreaks, intervention and control measures have been implemented, including exclusion criteria, isolation in the day care centre, and education. Many of the day care centres excluded children and staff who had symptoms of or stool samples that tested positive for enteric bacteria. The majority of the day care centres required two consecutive negative stool cultures or symptoms to have ceased for at least twenty-four hours before returning (170,171,177,178). Some day care centres were able to provide an isolation room for infected staff and children (171,175,178). Children were typically moved to the infection-free room after two consecutive stool samples were culture-negative (175). In one outbreak, a licensed centre for 92 children allowed children and staff to return following antimicrobial therapy and cessation of diarrhea, but before cultures were negative. These children and staff were isolated in a separate room with a bathroom, sink, and playground until two consecutive cultures were negative. By providing an isolation unit, this centre prevented the need for parents to seek alternative care, and risk spreading the disease further. This strategy was also well received by parents of non-affected children, knowing that affected children were isolated and the public health department was providing surveillance (178)

As part of outbreak management and prevention of future outbreaks, day care centres have provided education on proper hand hygiene, diaper-changing procedures, and disinfection of the diaper-changing area, toys and other environmental surfaces (175,178). In some cases, the closing of day care centre kitchens was warranted (170). Initiating appropriate action has prevented many day care centre outbreaks from spreading to the surrounding community. Following the implementation of interventions, outbreaks within day care centres have been contained, ranging from after two days (178) to three weeks (171) after the intervention. Successful interventions included education on hand hygiene and diarrhea surveillance for families, day care centres, summer camps, and schools. Furthermore, people with diarrhea were referred to a diarrhea clinic in some cases for diagnosis and treatment (171). Gilbert et al. (178) noted the need for education and increased awareness of disease transmission for parents and staff, and called for clear definitions and policies to control outbreak situations.

Studies of shigellosis outbreaks illustrate the potential for an illness to extend from a day care center into the general population. From June 2001 to March 2003, the incidence of shigellosis increased five to forty-fold in six states in the USA, with illness originating in day care centres and spreading to the community (173). The affected facilities took appropriate intervention measures. Specifically, infected children were excluded from the centre and public health departments provided hand hygiene education to the community to control the outbreak (173). An outbreak of S. sonnei was identified in one neighbourhood (pop 60,000) affecting mostly children under five years of age. It was determined that children attending day care were the main risk factor for transmission of the illness into households. Secondary transmission within households was common. Shigella sonnei outbreaks in this community tend to be cyclic in nature, recurring every five to six years. This may indicate a low-level endemic transmission, with outbreaks occurring when a new group of young children enters the day care centres without previous Shigella exposure (172). In the report of six statewide outbreaks of Shigella sonnei in the United States, health department treatment suggestions varied; some recommended

antibiotic treatment for all stool-confirmed cases, while some did not recommend antibiotic treatment except in severe cases. All health departments suggested referring to the antimicrobial resistance data to guide treatment agent selection (173).

#### Schools

Similar to the information on enteric illness in daycares, the literature has focused on outbreaks when discussing enteric illness in schools. Of particular relevance to this review, Maguire *et al.,* (179) investigated a *Shigella sonnei* outbreak that occurred in a primary school, affecting 42% of the students and staff. Children aged four to eight years had the highest incidence of diarrhea, at 33% and the incidence was 8% for children aged eight to twelve years. Isolates of *Shigella sonnei* were found to be resistant to sulphonamides, streptomycin, and ampicillin.

Outbreak management methods included excluding children and staff from the school until diarrhea ceased. Food hygiene and cleaning practices at the school were examined and found to be adequate. However, infected food handlers with diarrhea were excluded for forty-eight hours after symptoms ceased and all uncooked food was excluded from the menu until the end of the outbreak. Reminders of the importance of hand hygiene, especially following bathroom use and before eating, were issued to staff, children, and parents.

#### Households

The home is a central hub of activity and the place from which we all go into the community, and thus can facilitate spread of disease (180). The household is a complex environment that may contain members of varied ages and house pets, and where daily activities such as food preparation and personal hygiene practices occur. Household members vary in risk level of infectious disease, depending on age and health status. More high risk people are being cared for at home (including neonates, elderly, immunocompromised), requiring additional care in household cleanliness and decontamination (181). As such, the home environment has been the subject of in-depth epidemiological studies related to spread of infectious disease.

Numerous studies investigating the domestic environment have shed light on how infectious diseases are spread through the home, with many infections being due to inadequate hygiene. Hygiene within the home includes many aspects such as general cleaning, food preparation, and personal hygiene. Proper hygiene during food preparation in the home is essential in preventing cross contamination from raw meats and fruits and vegetables and also from household members carrying an infectious disease (182). The goal for applying proper hygienic procedures in the home is not to attain sterility, but rather to decrease the number of microorganisms to levels that will not adversely affect health (183). Routine cleaning of the house is often sufficient to reduce contamination. but when a member is ill with an infectious disease, heightened awareness of cleaning and decontamination is necessary. This can be achieved by recognizing the areas of the home that are most likely to be in contact with pathogens.

Sites and surfaces in the home can be categorized into 4 groups: reservoir sites, reservoir-disseminators, hand and food contact surfaces, and other surfaces. Reservoir sites include toilets, which have a high contamination probability, but where the chance of transfer is limited. Reservoir-disseminator sites are highly contaminated areas and high risk transfer sites, such as taps, handles or dish cloths, which can easily spread bacteria. Food handling hygiene is imperative, including proper storage, preparation, cooking temperature, and serving. Hand hygiene during food preparation is essential to reduce personto-person transmission and avoid cross-contamination by other surfaces (180,182,183). In general, contact surfaces such as kitchen counters, taps, handles, and contaminated cloths have lower bacterial levels because they tend to be drier, but these items still have potential for contact transfer (180). Cleaning of surfaces can be attained either by removal or inactivating the organism. If removal of bacteria with

soap and water is not possible, such as on a fixed surface which cannot be washed in a sink or exposed to mechanical action, inactivation with a disinfectant is ideal (180,183). Disinfectants can provide a margin of safety by ensuring that bacteria are inactivated at specific points in the house, but these products are not necessary in all situations. Generally, reservoirs of high contamination with low transfer risk under normal conditions (e.g. toilets, drains) do not need to be disinfected. However, if there is an infectious disease outbreak, disinfection to kill pathogens is recommended to reduce the risk of transfer (180).

Much of the infectious disease within the home is associated with secondary transmission through person-to-person contact. Parry and Salmon (167) quantified and characterized household transmission of shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli O157 (STEC O157) following sporadic infections in the community. Secondary household transmission was calculated at 4-15%. Household members most likely to contract STEC O157 from case-patients are children aged one to four years and adults under thirty-five years. Children are more likely to put contaminated hands and objects in their mouths and persons fifteen to thirty-five years are more likely to be caring for children with diarrhea. Werber et al. (184) found that household transmission occurred mainly from children under the age of ten years old to younger siblings. A combination of the case-patient being under the age of five years and the presence of a sibling independently increased the risk of secondary transmission within the household (184).

#### Nursing Homes and Long-Term Care Facilities

Nursing home and long-term care facility (LTCF) residents are at high risk of acquiring infectious disease. Nursing homes and LTCFs provide an ideal setting for the transmission of disease with elderly residents sharing air, food, water, and health care in an institutional setting. Typically, elderly residents are predisposed to infections due to multiple chronic diseases and physical impairments (185). Bacteria may be more likely to cause disease due to low inoculum levels required to produce clinical infections in elderly people.

Due to other chronic disease conditions in elderly patients, enteric bacterial infections may be overlooked or misdiagnosed, even at times of an outbreak. Additionally, patients may not be able to report symptoms due to confusion or dementia (186). Furthermore, visitors and staff may carry pathogens from the community into the nursing home. Geriatric patients are at higher risk for complications or death when infected with enteric bacteria compared to other population groups (187). The most common causes of gastrointestinal infection outbreaks are *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and less commonly *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Shigella* (185).

The use of antibiotics in LTCFs for the elderly population is a growing concern. O'Fallon, et al. (188) conducted a survey with licensed LTCFs assessing methods, frequency, content, and dissemination of information used to track infections and antibiotic use. Most facilities used paper charting for tracking infections and antibiotic use, which limits the ability to provide trends, disseminate data and analyze, or to combine data with medical records. Current United States federal guidelines require that LTCFs conduct infection control programs and recommend practices to track infections and antibiotic resistance. However, there is no set instruction for facilities on how to achieve these requirements and as a result, LTCFs are not consistent with respect to infection tracking. Specific guidelines are needed for LTCFs in infection tracking and antibiotic use.

#### Immunocompromised Individuals

Immunocompromised individuals are a group that includes newborn infants, the elderly, patients recently discharged from the hospital, persons with chronic immune system impairment such as those with HIV infection, or patients undergoing immunosuppressive drug therapy (182). People may be immunocompromised temporarily due to pregnancy or development stage (e.g. infants). Long-term or permanent immunocompromise may be due to immunosuppressive treatment (eg. cancer or organ transplant) or from an infectious disease such as HIV/AIDS. For this population, likely routes of exposure to enteric bacteria arise in the home environment, such as through food preparation, pet care and gardening. Immunocompromised people are at increased risk of infection, complications and death due to a lower dose of bacteria being required to initiate infection (189). It is important for immunocompromised people to recognize areas of higher risk for transmission and reservoirs (189). For example, food preparation is an area of concern for immunocompromised individuals. Safe food-handling guidelines should be followed, including practicing hand hygiene when handling raw meat and eggs, and thorough washing of cutting boards and counters to avoid cross-contamination (189).

#### Sociodemographic Factors

Examining sociodemographic and economic factors in relation to the incidence of enteric bacteria may provide insight into the dynamics of community transmission of infectious diseases and opportunities for control and prevention.

Chang and colleagues (190) investigated how sociodemographic and economic factors may be associated with enteric illness at the county level. With the rise in day care centres and nursing home facilities to accommodate the increasing number of children and elderly people requiring this type of care, the potential risk for pathogen exposure and transmission in the community has also increased. Salmonellosis incidence has been found to be higher in communities with a higher percentage of children less than five years and people over sixty-five years. A higher salmonellosis incidence was also reported in communities with higher percentage of black or Hispanic residents, which may be contributed to by socioeconomic and cultural differences, knowledge and food safety practices and personal hygiene practices (190).

Salmonellosis and shigellosis were positively associated with numerous sociodemographic and economic factors, such as population distribution by selected age groups, race, ethnicity, urbanization, poverty level, crime rate, and physician population ratio in a study by Chang et al. (190). However, all of these factors were negatively associated with E. coli O157:H7 infection. Inconsistent associations for samonellosis, shigellosis, and E. coli O157:H7 infections included population distribution by education level, population living on a farm, local per capita expenditures for education, and Medicare enrolment rates. The differences in disease incidence was concluded to be partly due to sociodemographic and economic factors, demonstrating the complex relationship between community characteristics and dynamics of disease transmission. Identifying these county-level factors associated with enteric illness will assist in developing specific interventions for outbreak management and prevention (190).

#### Population Density

The influence of population density and its association with antibiotic resistance is also an area of recent research. Bruinsma et al. (191) examined the prevalence of antibiotic resistance of three cities in three countries, specifically Athens, Greece; Groningen, Netherlands; and St. John's, Newfoundland. Prevalence of antibiotic-resistant E. coli was measured in healthy people in relation to antibiotic consumption and population density as a measure of crowding in each community. Levels of antibiotic-resistant E. coli to various antibiotics (amoxicillin, cefazolin, nalidixic acid, ciprofloxacin, chloramphenicol, gentamicin, nitrofurantoin, oxytetracycline, and trimethoprim) were found to be associated with population density, with the highest resistance and density in Athens, followed by Groningen, and St. Johns. The results of this study indicate that population density is a factor in antibiotic resistance, suggesting that the opportunity of a susceptible host acquiring resistant bacteria from a resistant carrier is greater in areas of higher population density.

MacDougall *et al.* (192) conducted a study examining hospital and community fluoroquinolone use and

resistance in *S. aureus* and *E. coli* in hospitals. Results indicated a significant association between *E. coli* resistant to fluoroquinolones in hospitals and fluoroquinolone use in the community surrounding hospitals within a sixteen kilometre radius. It was concluded that population density of the community surrounding the hospitals was significantly related to resistance in *E. coli* and *S. aureus* reported in hospital antibiograms, with hospitals in dense populations having a greater burden of ill patients who are more likely to develop infections with a resistant pathogen. A possible explanation for this is that density affects the circulation of antimicrobial resistance in the community through a higher rate of crosstransmission among people living in close proximity.

## Regional and Seasonal Variation

Some studies have found that the incidence of enteric illness may vary between urban and rural regions. Chang et al. (190) found in all regions investigated, salmonellosis and shigellosis had higher incidence rates in counties where > 50% of the population lived in urban areas. E. coli O157:H7 incidence was higher in counties where > 50% of the population lived in rural areas (190). Campylobacter incidence was detected to be lower in rural areas compared with urban areas (193). In a contrasting study conducted in Manitoba, Canada, the incidence of *Campylobacter* was significantly higher in rural and farming populations. The highest incidence rates were detected in populations living in proximity to high densities of farm animals (194). Antibiotic resistance rates were found to have increased with growing urbanization, with the majority of resistance to fluoroquinolones (193).

Seasonal variation in the incidence of enteric bacteria is well-recognized. Van Hees *et al.* (193) investigated seasonal differences of *Campylobacter* infections and antibiotic resistance patterns and found that infection incidence rates were higher in the summer than in winter; however, resistance rates were opposite, being higher in the winter and lower in the summer.

# Reservoirs and Transmission of Enteric Bacteria

Only those studies pertaining to antibiotic-resistant enteric bacteria are reviewed here.

#### Waterborne Transmission

Water is an ideal vehicle for transmission of enteric bacteria throughout the community. Many enteric illness outbreaks are due to a contaminated community water source.

Alamanos *et al.* (195) reported a community outbreak of *Shigella sonnei* affecting 288 of 2,213 residents (>10% of the population). People from zero to fourteen years had the highest incidence of infection and the risk decreased significantly with age and, interestingly, was lowest in the people over sixtyfive years. However, the likelihood of hospitalization was highest in affected people over sixty-five years. *Shigella sonnei* strains isolated from cases were resistant to antibiotics (ampicillin, co-trimoxazole and tetracycline) and the same resistance profile was detected in isolates from water samples. (195).

#### Person-to-Person Transmission

Hands are extremely important as a person-to-person transmission route because they come into contact with known entry points for pathogens, such as the nose, eyes, and mouth (182). Seto *et al.* (196) examined the effectiveness of promoting prevention of secondary transmission during an enteric bacteria outbreak. The model used in this study suggests that preventing secondary transmission could result in 5–11% reduction of symptomatic cases.

A community-based study was undertaken to assess the prevalence and determinants of antibiotic resistance of *E. coli* of a large population consisting of *E. coli*-infected and uninfected children. Information and stool samples were collected from household members of the study children to investigate the role of family transmission in comparison to other risk factors. The study demonstrated that the prevalence of resistant *E. coli* is relatively low and there was no difference in prevalence between parents and children (197).

Lietzau et al. (197) investigated the role of conjugal transmission of resistant E. coli in comparison with other risk factors such as recent antibiotic therapy or hospital stay. The prevalence of resistant E. coli to various antibiotics was similar between husband and wife: for ampicillin resistance, prevalences were 18.9% for men and 15.7% for their spouses; 10% and 9.2% for men and their spouses respectively for cotrimoxazole and 13.1% and 14.9%, for men and spouses, respectively were resistant to doxycycline; cephalosporin, gentamicin, and quinolones resistance prevalences were 3% or less. Strong associations with resistance were found among partners; if the spouse carried resistant E. coli, the prevalence of resistance in men was 50%, 25% and 20.6% for ampicillin, cotrimoxazole, and doxycycline, respectively, compared with 11.9%, 8.1% and 11.6% otherwise. Recent antibiotic use and hospital stay or visit within the last twelve months were not associated with antibiotic resistance. No associations were found between resistance and various sociodemographic factors such as patient age, education level, occupation, number of household members, square metre per person in the household, elderly household members, and whether there was a household pet.

## Proposed Control Options for Enteric Bacteria

A variety of measures have been proposed as biologically plausible ways to control the transmission of enteric infections, although these are for the most part unstudied, with the exception of hand hygiene. We present here an overview of the literature which addresses these proposed approaches.

### Hand Hygiene

Thorough hand washing and hand sanitizer continues to be among the best defense against transmission of enteric illness. Numerous studies have investigated the effectiveness of hand hygiene (182,198–200). Good hand hygiene is instructed in many day care and nursing home facilities, and is also promoted through postings in health care and public areas (173,200–202).

# Household Hygiene

The house environment should be approached with a holistic view, as there are many opportunities to prevent transmission of gastrointestinal illness within the home. Household areas of risk, and therefore potential points of control, are personal hygiene, environmental hygiene (toilets, bath sinks, surfaces), care of domestic pets, and care of family members at increased risk. Hand hygiene is the central component for prevention of transmission in all household areas.

To control secondary transmission, Werber *et al.* (184) suggests immediately separating siblings in the household if one is infected with enteric bacteria. The presence of a sibling (RR 3.8; 95% CI 0.99-14.6) and children under five years old being the primary case patient (RR 2.03; 95% CI 0.99-41.6) were independent predictors for secondary transmission in the household. Secondary cases could be reduced by up to 50% if the infected child was immediately isolated following laboratory confirmation of the diagnosis.

### **Equipment Disinfection**

An ideal method to control spread of enteric illness is through disinfection of equipment that may be shared among people. Kotch *et al.* (200) examined equipment used in day care centres. The main areas of concern were diaper-changing, hand-washing, and food preparation equipment. Day care centres were provided with unique cast polymer tabletops with impermeable, seamless surfacing for diaper-changing, hand-washing, and food-preparation. Other features included automatic faucets and foot-activated roll out diaper disposal bins to minimize contact by hands. The intervention centres had significantly reduced diarrheal illnesses (0.90 vs. 1.58 illnesses per 100 child-days in control centres), number of days ill due to diarrhea in children in treatment compared to control centres (4.0% vs. 5.0% of days ill per 100 child-days), and days ill among teaching staff due to any illness (0.77% vs. 1.73% in control centres). High-quality day care equipment combined with hygiene education can significantly reduce diarrheal illnesses among children and sick days among staff (200).

# Public Health Education

Public health departments have the potential opportunity to play a large role in the control and prevention of enteric illnesses. Delivery of public health messages through a variety of media such as the Internet, television, radio, and newspapers can be an effective way to educate the general population (196).

Public health departments can also make recommendations on control methods to prevent secondary transmission within the household and community. Recommendations include frequent hand washing, avoiding contact with feces, minimizing contact with infected persons, proper food preparation and consumption, and staying home from work or school if having diarrhea during outbreaks (196).

Public health officials can assist in stopping and controlling outbreaks at day care centres. Control options often recommended include isolating or excluding children with enteric illness symptoms or confirmed diagnosis; education on hand hygiene and washing, diaper-changing procedures and disinfection of the diaper-changing area, toys, and other environmental surfaces (173, 175, 178).

# Specific Evaluation Studies of Control Options

There are very few published studies that evaluate the effectiveness of specific control strategies relevant to community-based settings for enteric pathogens (resistant or non-resistant), and those few published studies all focus on washing/hand hygiene.

### Hand Washing

Aiello et al. (199) preformed a meta-analysis of four databases for hand hygiene trials published between January 1960 and May 2007, collecting a total of thirty qualifying studies. The meta-analysis found that for all hand hygiene interventions, gastrointestinal illness was reduced by 31% (95% CI=19%, 42%). The most effective interventions for reducing gastrointestinal illness was a combination of using non-antibacterial soap along with hand hygiene education, decreasing gastrointestinal illness by 39% (95% CI=12%, 57%). No evidence was found to support the use of alcohol-based hand sanitizers or antibacterial soap being more effective than non-antibacterial soap against the prevention of gastrointestinal illnesses. This finding was also supported by a systematic review by Aiello et al., (199), who found no difference in gastrointestinal illness symptoms when using non-antibacterial soap compared with antimicrobial soap. Regardless, the use of nonantibacterial soap, antimicrobial soap, or hand sanitizers will reduce the amount of bacteria on hands and impact transmission of illness in home and community (182).

Bloomfield et al. (182) conducted a review of the impact of hand hygiene in reducing transmission of infectious diseases in the home and community, as well as evaluating the use of alcohol-based hygiene procedures alone or combined with hand washing. Hands are a significant factor in the transmission of enteric infection because they come into direct contact with areas of pathogen entry such as the nose, mouth, and eyes. Yet, hands are also the last measure of defense against disease transmission. The authors found that overall good hygiene, but especially good hand hygiene, in both the home and community has a significant benefit in decreasing the incidence, ranging from 48-57%, of gastrointestinal illnesses. Public education of the effectiveness of hand hygiene and the proper application of hand hygiene can impact gastrointestinal illnesses, by reducing transmission.

# Conclusion

# Similarities between CA-MRSA and resistant enteric bacteria

CA-MRSA and community-acquired antimicrobial resistant enteric bacteria share features which suggest opportunities for common approaches to their control:

- Modes of transmission: CA-MRSA and resistant enteric bacteria may by spread by direct personto-person transmission and fomites
- Risk Groups: These organisms share some high risk groups including children, the elderly, immunocompromised individuals, those with preexisting medical conditions, familial groups and animal handlers
- Prevention: Proposed methods of control of these infections share some common features including: hand and personal hygiene, prudent use of antimicrobials, early diagnosis and appropriate treatment, public education programs (hygiene, antibiotic use), regular cleaning and laundering in households and facilities, equipment disinfection, and exclusion of those with active infections from certain settings

### Limitations to the information on strategies to control communityassociated antimicrobial resistant Staphylococcus aureus and enteric bacterial infections

- In general there is reasonable scientific evidence regarding risk groups and risk factors for CA-MRSA. This information provides some insight into potential approaches to control these infections.
- There is a paucity of information on risk groups and risk factors for the community-acquired antimicrobial resistant enteric bacterial infections

studied; some information exists on risk settings and risk factors for community acquired enteric bacterial infections, but the extent to which this can be extrapolated to resistant infections is unknown; much of this information takes the form of outbreak reports

- There is a paucity of scientifically-based information (RCTs or observational studies) on interventions for CA-MRSA or for the enteric bacterial infections studied—resistant or otherwise. A number of RCTs have shown the effectiveness of handwashing in the prevention of gastrointestinal illness generally.
- A limited number of intervention studies of HA-MRSA exist, however the extent to which the result of these studies can be extrapolated to CA-MRSA is unknown; such extrapolation may be misleading
- There is an extensive literature concerning recommendations, guidelines, and suggested approaches to the control of both CA-MRSA and, to a lesser extent, enteric bacterial infections in community settings. Although the efficacy of these approaches is plausible, it has for the most part not been formally evaluated

### Recommendations

- Formal evaluations of the efficacy of strategies for control of CA-MRSA and community-acquired enteric infections (resistant and otherwise) are warranted and should form the basis for public health guidelines and policy
- Until such time as such evaluations can be undertaken, recommendations for control of these infections must be dependent largely on historic practice, conventional wisdom, extrapolation from other contexts, consensus and conjecture

- Potential interventions that would warrent formal evaluation in various settings and groups include the following:
  - Hand and personal hygiene
  - Prudent use of antibiotics
  - Decolonization
  - Early diagnosis and appropriate treatment
  - Public education programs (hygiene, antibiotic use)
  - Regular cleaning and laundering in households and facilities
  - Equipment disinfection
  - Exclusion of those with active infection from certain settings
- Ongoing collection and evaluation of information (including surveillance and epidemiologic studies) on the occurrence, settings, risk factors, and risk groups for CA-MRSA and resistant enteric infections is warranted. Such information will be useful in determining disease trends, identifying risk groups, settings and risk factors, and identifying and evaluating potential interventions

# References

- Borgundvaag, B., Katz, K., Allen, V., Adam, H., Currie, A., Lee, J., Ellis, P., Somers, A., Rutlledge, T., and Rizos, J. Prevalence of CA-MRSA in purulent skin and soft tissue infections in patients presenting at emergency departments in the Greater Toronto Area. Ann Emerg Med. 2008 April:51(4):478.
- Thomas MK, Majowicz SE, Pollari F, Sockett PN. Burden of acute gastrointestinal illness in Canada, 1999-2007: Interim summary of NSAGI activities. Can Commun Dis Rep. 2008 May;34(5):8-15.
- Hawkes M, Barton M, Conly J, Nicolle L, Barry C, Ford-Jones EL. Community-associated MRSA: Superbug at our doorstep. Can Med Assoc J. 2007;176(1):54.
- Thomas MK, Majowicz SE, Sockett PN, Fazil A, Pollari F, Dore K, *et al.* Estimated numbers of community cases of illness due to *Salmonella, Campylobacter* and verotoxigenic *Escherichia coli:* Pathogen-specific community rates. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2006 Jul;17(4):229-34.
- 5. Canada Communicable Disease Report (CCDR). Antimicrobial Resistance: A deadly burden no country can afford to ignore. 2003 Sept 15:29(18). http:// www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/publicat/ccdr-rmtc/03vol29/ dr2918eb.html.
- 6. Rao GG. Risk factors for the spread of antibioticresistant bacteria. Drugs. 1998 Mar;55(3):323-30.
- 7. Conly J. Antimicrobial resistance in Canada. CMAJ. 2002 Oct 15;167(8):885-91.
- 8. Farley JE. Epidemiology, clinical manifestations, and treatment options for skin and soft tissue infection caused by community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus.* J Am Acad Nurse Pract. 2008 Feb;20(2):85-92.
- 9. Schito GC. The importance of the development of antibiotic resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2006 Mar;12 Suppl 1:3-8.
- Lipsitch M. and Samore MH. Antimicrobial use and antimicrobial resistance: A population perspective. Emerg Infect Dis. 2002 Apr;8(4):347-54.
- 11. Barza M. Potential mechanisms of increased disease in humans from antimicrobial resistance in food animals. Clin Infect Dis. 2002 Jun 1;34 Suppl 3:S123-5.

- McDermott PF, Zhao S, Wagner DD, Simjee S, Walker RD, White DG. The food safety perspective of antibiotic resistance. Anim Biotechnol. 2002 May;13(1):71-84.
- 13. Gardam MA. Is methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* an emerging community pathogen? A review of the literature. Can J Infect Dis. 2000 Jul;11(4):202-11.
- 14. de Lencastre H, Oliveira D, Tomasz A. Antibiotic resistant *Staphylococcus aureus:* A paradigm of adaptive power. Curr Opin Microbiol. 2007 Oct;10(5):428-35.
- 15. Hiramatsu K, Cui L, Kuroda M, Ito T. The emergence and evolution of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Trends Microbiol. 2001 Oct;9(10):486-93.
- Lowy FD. Antimicrobial resistance: The example of *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Clin Invest. 2003;111(9):1265-73.
- Matouskova I. and Janout V. Current knowledge of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* and community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Biomedical Papers-Olomouc. 2008;152(2):191-202.
- Cohen ML and Tauxe RV. Drug-resistant Salmonella in the United States: An epidemiologic perspective. Science. 1986 Nov 21;234(4779):964-9.
- Lietzau S, Raum E, von Baum H, Marre R and Brenner H. Household contacts were key factor for children's colonization with resistant *Escherichia coli* in community setting. J Clin Epidemiol. 2007 Nov;60(11):1149-55.
- 20. Holmberg SD, Solomon SL, Blake PA. Health and economic impacts of antimicrobial resistance. Rev Infect Dis. 1987 Nov-Dec;9(6):1065-78.
- 21. Holmberg SD, Osterholm MT, Senger KA, Cohen ML. Drug-resistant *Salmonella* from animals fed antimicrobials. N Engl J Med. 1984 Sep 6;311(10):617-22.
- 22. Khachatourians GG. Agricultural use of antibiotics and the evolution and transfer of antibiotic-resistant bacteria. CMAJ. 1998 Nov 3;159(9):1129-36.

- Oosterom J. Epidemiological studies and proposed preventive measures in the fight against human Salmonellosis. Int J Food Microbiol. 1991 Jan;12(1):41-51.
- 24. Choi CS, Yin CS, Bakar AA, Sakewi Z, Naing NN, Jamal F, *et al.* Nasal carriage of *Staphylococcus aureus* among healthy adults. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2006 Dec;39(6):458-64.
- Enright MC, Robinson DA, Randle G, Feil EJ, Grundmann H, Spratt BG. The evolutionary history of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 May 28;99(11):7687-92.
- Cohen AL, Shuler C, Mcallister S, Fosheim GE, Brown MG, Abercrombie D, Anderson K, McDougal LK, Drenzek C, Arnold K, Jernigan D, Gorwitz R. Methamphetamine use and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* skin infections. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 2007:13(11):1707-1713.
- 27. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). CA-MRSA: Clinician FAQs | CDC infection control in healthcare. 2009. http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dhqp/ ar\_mrsa\_ca\_ clinicians.html#
- Barton M, Hawkes M, Moore D, Conly J, Nicolle L, Allen U, et al. Guidelines for the prevention and management of community-associated methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus:* A perspective for Canadian health care practitioners. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2006 September/October 2006;17 Suppl C(Suppl C):Feb 19 2009.
- 29. Bartlett JG. Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infections. Top HIV Med. 2008 Dec;16(5):151-5.
- 30. Levenhagen KM. Community-acquired methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus:* An emerging concern for physical therapists: Discussion. Physiother Res Int. 2008 Mar;13(1):9-17.
- Kluytmans-Vandenbergh MF, Kluytmans JA. Community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: Current perspectives. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2006 Mar;12 Suppl 1:9-15.
- 32. Allen UD. Public health implications of MRSA in Canada. CMAJ. 2006 Jul 18;175(2):161.

- Yee-Guardino S, Kumar D, Abughali N, Tuohy M, Hall GS, Kumar ML. Recognition and treatment of neonatal community-associated MRSA pneumonia and bacteremia. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2008 Feb;43(2):203-5.
- Popovich KJ, Hota B. Treatment and prevention of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* skin and soft tissue infections. Dermatol Ther. 2008 May-Jun;21(3):167-79.
- Magilner D, Byerly MM, Cline DM. The prevalence of community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (CA-MRSA) in skin abscesses presenting to the pediatric emergency department. N C Med J. 2008 Sep-Oct;69(5):351-4.
- 36. Roberts S, Chambers S. Diagnosis and management of *Staphylococcus aureus* infections of the skin and soft tissue. Intern Med J. 2005 Dec;35 Suppl 2:S97-105.
- Angulo FJ, Nunnery JA, Bair HD. Antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic enteric pathogens. Rev Sci Tech OIE. 2004;23(2):485-96.
- Pitout JD, Church DL. Emerging gram-negative enteric infections. Clin Lab Med. 2004 Sep;24(3):605,26, vi.
- 39. Takkinen J, Ammon A. The 11th international workshop on *Campylobacter, Helicobacter* and related organisms (CHRO), 2001. Euro Surveill. 2003 Nov;8(11):219-22.
- 40. Coker AO, Isokpehi RD, Thomas BN, Amisu KO, Obi CL. Human campylobacteriosis in developing countries. Emerg Infect Dis. 2002 Mar;8(3):237-44.
- 41. Alban L, Nielsen EO, Dahl J. A human health risk assessment for macrolide-resistant *Campylobacter* associated with the use of macrolides in Danish pig production. Prev Vet Med. 2008 Feb 1;83(2):115-29.
- 42. Kuschner RA, Trofa AF, Thomas RJ, Hoge CW, Pitarangsi C, Amato S, *et al.* Use of azithromycin for the treatment of *Campylobacter* enteritis in travelers to Thailand, an area where ciprofloxacin resistance is prevalent. Clin Infect Dis. 1995 Sep;21(3):536-41.
- Rozynek E, Dzierzanowska-Fangrat K, Korsak D, Konieczny P, Wardak S, Szych J, et al. Comparison of antimicrobial resistance of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* isolated from humans and chicken carcasses in Poland. J Food Protect. 2008;71(3):602-7.

- 44. Moore JE, Barton MD, Blair IS, Corcoran D, Dooley JS, Fanning S, *et al.* The epidemiology of antibiotic resistance in *Campylobacter.* Microbes Infect. 2006 Jun;8(7):1955-66.
- 45. Allos BM. *Campylobacter jejuni* infections: Update on emerging issues and trends. Clin Infect Dis. 2001;32(8):1201-6.
- 46. Feierl G, Wagner U, Sixl B, Grisold A, Daghofer E, Marth E. Epidemiology of Campylobacteriosis and development of resistance in Styria, Austria. Int J Med Microbiol. 2001;291 (suppl 31).
- 47. Gupta A, Nelson JM, Barrett TJ, Tauxe RV, Rossiter SP, Friedman CR, *et al.* Antimicrobial resistance among *Campylobacter* strains, United States, 1997-2001. Emerg Infect Dis. 2004 Jun;10(6):1102-9.
- 48. Gaudreau C, Gilbert H. Antimicrobial resistance of *Campylobacter jejuni* subsp. *jejuni* strains isolated from humans in 1998 to 2001 in Montreal, Canada. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2003 Jun;47(6):2027-9.
- 49. Gaudreau C, Michaud S. Cluster of erythromycinand ciprofloxacin-resistant *Campylobacter jejuni* subsp *jejuni* from 1999 to 2001 in men who have sex with men, Quebec, Canada. Clin Infect Dis. 2003;37(1):131-6.
- 50. Canadian integrated program for antimicrobial resistance surveillance (CIPARS). July 26, 2007. http://www.phac- aspc.gc.ca.subzero.lib.uoguelph.ca /cipars-picra/index-eng.php
- Brenner FW, Villar RG, Angulo FJ, Tauxe R, Swaminathan B. *Salmonella* nomenclature. J Clin Microbiol. 2000 Jul;38(7):2465-7.
- Zansky S, Wallace B, Schoonmaker-Bopp D, Smith P, Ramsey F, Painter J, *et al.* From the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Outbreak of multi-drug resistant *Salmonella* Newport-United States, January-April 2002. JAMA. 2002 Aug 28;288(8):951-3.
- 53. Zhao S, Qaiyumi S, Friedman S, Singh R, Foley SL, White DG, *et al.* Characterization of *Salmonella enterica* serotype Newport isolated from humans and food animals. J Clin Microbiol. 2003 Dec;41(12):5366-71.

- Varma JK, Marcus R, Stenzel SA, Hanna SS, Gettner S, Anderson BJ, et al. Highly resistant Salmonella Newport-MDRAmpC transmitted through the domestic US food supply: A FoodNet casecontrol study of sporadic Salmonella Newport infections, 2002-2003. J Infect Dis. 2006 Jul 15;194(2):222-30.
- 55. Varma JK, Greene KD, Ovitt J, Barrett TJ, Medalla F, Angulo FJ. Hospitalization and antimicrobial resistance in *Salmonella* outbreaks, 1984-2002. Emerg Infect Dis. 2005 Jun;11(6):943-6.
- Helms M, Simonsen J, Molbak K. Quinolone resistance is associated with increased risk of invasive illness or death during infection with *Salmonella* serotype Typhimurium. J Infect Dis. 2004 Nov 1;190(9):1652-4.
- 57. Parry CM, Threlfall EJ. Antimicrobial resistance in typhoidal and nontyphoidal *Salmonellae*. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2008 Oct;21(5):531-8.
- 58. Serna A, Boedeker EC. Pathogenesis and treatment of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* infections. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2008 Jan:24(1):38-47.
- 59. Oudhuis GJ, Verbon A, Hoogkamp-Korstanje JA, Stobberingh EE, Susceptibility Surveillance Study Group. Antimicrobial resistance in *Escherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from intensive care units in the Netherlands, 1998-2005. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2008 Jan;31(1):58-63.
- Bettelheim KA, Hornitzky MA, Djordjevic SP, Kuzevski A. Antibiotic resistance among verocytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* (VTEC) and non-VTEC isolated from domestic animals and humans. J Med Microbiol. 2003:52:155-162.
- 61. Willshaw GA, Cheasty T, Smith HR, O'Brien SJ, Adak GK. Verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (VTEC) O157 and other VTEC from human infections in England and Wales: 1995-1998. J. Med. Microbiol. 2001:50:135-142.
- 62. Sur D, Ramamurthy T, Deen J, Bhattacharya S. Shigellosis: Challenges and management issues. Indian J Med Res. 2004;120:454.
- 63. Peirano G, Souza FS, Rodrigues DP. *Shigella* Study Group. Frequency of serovars and antimicrobial resistance in *Shigella spp.* from Brazil. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz. 2006 May;101(3):245-50.

- 64. Murray BE. Problems and mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 1989 Sep;3(3):423-39.
- 65. Griffin PM, Tauxe RV, Redd SC, Puhr ND, Hargrett-Bean N, Blake PA. Emergence of highly trimethoprimsulfamethoxazole-resistant *Shigella* in a Native American population: An epidemiologic study. Am J Epidemiol. 1989 May;129(5):1042-51.
- 66. Replogle ML, Fleming DW, Cieslak PR. Emergence of antimicrobial-resistant shigellosis in Oregon. Clin Infect Dis. 2000 Mar;30(3):515-9.
- Jain SK, Gupta A, Glanz B, Dick J, Siberry GK. Antimicrobial-resistant *Shigella sonnei:* Limited antimicrobial treatment options for children and challenges of interpreting in vitro azithromycin susceptibility. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2005 Jun;24(6):494-7.
- Cheasty T, Skinner JA, Rowe B, Threlfall EJ. Increasing incidence of antibiotic resistance in Shigellas from humans in England and Wales: Recommendations for therapy. Microb Drug Resist. 1998 Spring;4(1):57-60.
- Harnett N. High level resistance to trimethoprim, cotrimoxazole and other antimicrobial agents among clinical isolates of *Shigella* species in Ontario, Canada – an update. Epidemiol Infect. 1992 Dec;109(3):463-72.
- Aleksic S, Katz A, Aleksic V, Bockemuhl J. Antibiotic resistance of *Shigella* strains isolated in the Federal Republic of Germany 1989-1990. Zentralbl Bakteriol. 1993 Nov;279(4):484-93.
- 71. Sargeant JM, Amezcua MR, Raji A, Waddell L. A Guide to conducting systematic reviews in agri-food public health. 2005.
- 72. Pagac BB, Reiland RW, Bolesh DT, Swanson DL. Skin lesions in barracks: Consider communityacquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection instead of spider bites. Mil Med. 2006 Sep;171(9):830-2.
- 73. Beam JW, Buckley B. Community-acquired methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus:* Prevalence and risk factors. J Athl Training. 2006;41(3):337.
- Bocher S, Gervelmeyer A, Monnet DL, Molbak K, Skov RL, Danish CA-MRSA Study Group. Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus:* Risk factors associated with community-onset infections in Denmark. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2008 Oct;14(10):942-8.

- 75. Larsen AR, Stegger M, Bocher S, Sorum M, Monnet DL, Skov RL. Emergence and characterization of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphyloccocus aureus* infections in Denmark, 1999 to 2006. J Clin Microbiol. 2009 Jan;47(1):73-8.
- 76. So TY, Farrington E. Community-acquired methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection in the pediatric population. J Pediatr Health Care. 2008 07;22(4):211-20. Available from: http://search. ebscohost.com.cerberus.lib.uoguelph.ca/login.aspx?di rect=true&AuthType=ip&db=cin20&AN=200997931 0&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-live&scope=site.
- Bakunas-Kenneley I. Community-acquired MRSA in neonates: Prevention and control in the clinical setting. Nurs Womens Health. 2008 10;12(5):396-402. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com. cerberus.lib.uoguelph.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthT ype=ip&db=cin20&AN=2010058490&loginpage=Lo gin.asp&site=ehost-live&scope=site.
- 78. Kaplan SL. Community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infections in children. Semin Pediatr Infect Dis. 2006 Jul;17(3):113-9.
- 79. Hinckley J, Allen PJ. Community-associated MRSA in the pediatric primary care setting. Pediatr Nurs. 2008 Jan-Feb;34(1):64-71.
- 80. Nourse C, Starr M, Munckhof W. Communityacquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* causes severe disseminated infection and deep venous thrombosis in children: Literature review and recommendations for management. J Paediatr Child Health. 2007 Oct;43(10):656-61.
- Tejeda-Ramirez E, Behani M, Leggiadro RJ. Community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcal infection in an inner city hospital pediatric inpatient population. South Med J. 2009 Feb;102(2):135-8.
- Koski ME, DeMarco RT, Brock JW,3rd, Pope JC,4th, Adams MC, Thomas JC. Community associated methicillin resistant Staphylococcal infections in a pediatric urology practice. J Urol. 2008 Mar;179(3):1098-101.
- Saunders A, Panaro L, McGeer A, Rosenthal A, White D, Willey BM, et al. A nosocomial outbreak of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* among healthy newborns and postpartum mothers. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2007 Mar;18(2):128-32.

- Lo WT, Lin WJ, Tseng MH, Lu JJ, Lee SY, Chu ML, et al. Nasal carriage of a single clone of communityacquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* among kindergarten attendees in northern Taiwan. BMC Infect Dis. 2007 Jun 1;7:51.
- Sdougkos G, Chini V, Papanastasiou DA, Christodoulou G, Stamatakis E, Vris A, et al. Community-associated Staphylococcus aureus infections and nasal carriage among children: Molecular microbial data and clinical characteristics. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2008 Nov;14(11):995-1001.
- Al-Tawfiq JA. Father-to-infant transmission of community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in a neonatal intensive care unit. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2006 Jun;27(6):636-7.
- David MD, Kearns AM, Gossain S, Ganner M, Holmes A. Community-associated meticillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus:* Nosocomial transmission in a neonatal unit. J Hosp Infect. 2006 Nov;64(3):244-50.
- McAdams RM, Ellis MW, Trevino S, Rajnik M. Spread of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* USA300 in a neonatal intensive care unit. Pediatr Int. 2008 Dec;50(6):810-5.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* skin infections among tattoo recipients – Ohio, Kentucky, and Vermont, 2004-2005. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2006 Jun 23;55(24):677-9.
- 90. Thuong TC, Tho ND, Hoa NT, Phuong NTM, Van Tuan L, Diep TS, *et al.* An outbreak of severe infections with community-acquired MRSA carrying the panton-valentine leukocidin following vaccination. PLoS ONE. 2007;2(9):822.
- 91. Niniou I, Vourli S, Lebessi E, Foustoukou M, Vatopoulos A, Pasparakis DG, *et al.* Clinical and molecular epidemiology of community-acquired, methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infections in children in central Greece. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2008 Sep;27(9):831-7.
- 92. Seybold U, Halvosa JS, White N, Voris V, Ray SM, Blumberg HM. Emergence of and risk factors for methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* of community origin in intensive care nurseries. Pediatrics. 2008 Nov;122(5):1039-46.

- 93. Velazquez-Guadarrama N, Martinez-Aguilar G, Galindo JA, Zuniga G, Arbo-Sosa A. Methicillinresistant *S. aureus* colonization in Mexican children attending day care centres. Clin Invest Med. 2009 Feb 1;32(1):E57-63.
- 94. Fritz SA, Garbutt J, Elward A, Shannon W, Storch GA. Prevalence of and risk factors for communityacquired methicillin-resistant and methicillin-sensitive *Staphylococcus aureus* colonization in children seen in a practice-based research network. Pediatrics. 2008 Jun;121(6):1090-8.
- 95. Suh L, Coffin S, Leckerman KH, Gelfand JM, Honig PJ, Yan AC. Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* colonization in children with atopic dermatitis. Pediatr Dermatol. 2008 Sep-Oct;25(5):528-34.
- Tong, SYC, McDonald MI, Holt DC, Currie BJ. Global Implications of the Emergence of Community-Associated Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in Indigenous Populations. Clin Infect Dis. 2008:46(12):1871.
- 97. Ofner-Agostini M, Varia M, Johnston L, Green K, Simor A, Amihod B, Bryce E, Henderson E, Stegenga J, Bergeron F, Canadian Nosocomial Infection Surveillance Program, Gravel D. Infection control and antimicrobial restriction practices for antimicrobialresistant organisms in Canadian tertiary care hospitals. Am J Infect Control. 2007:35(9):563-568.
- Dalloo A, Sobol I, Palacios C, Mulvey M, Gravel D, Panaro L. Investigation of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in a remote northern community, Nunavut, Canada. CCDR. 2008 May 2008;34(5).
- 99. Larcombe L, Waruk J, Schellenberg J, Ormond M. Rapid emergence of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) among children and adolescents in Northern Manitoba, 2003-2006. CCDR. 2007:33(2).
- 100. Vlack S, Cox L, Peleg AY, Canuto C, Stewart C, Conlon A. Carriage of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in a Queensland Indigenous community. Med J Aust. 2006 Jun 5;184(11):556-9.
- Estivariz CF, Park SY, Hageman JC, Dvorin J, Melish MM, Arpon R. Emergence of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in Hawaii, 2001-2003. J Infect. 2007 Apr;54(4):349-57.

- 102. Kirkland EB, Adams BB. Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* and athletes. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2008 Sep;59(3):494-502.
- Beavis RC, MacDonald PB. Staphylococcus aureus septicemia secondary to hand abrasions in a professional hockey player – a case report. Clin J Sport Med. 2008 Mar;18(2):174-5.
- 104. Stevens MP, Bearman G, Rosato A, Edmond M. Community-acquired methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in a women's collegiate basketball team. South Med J. 2008 Oct;101(10):1067-8.
- 105. Romano R, Lu D, Holtom P. Outbreak of communityacquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* skin infections among a collegiate football team. J Athl Train. 2006 Apr-Jun;41(2):141-5.
- 106. Cohen PR. The skin in the gym: A comprehensive review of the cutaneous manifestations of community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection in athletes. Clin Dermatol. 2008 Jan-Feb;26(1):16-26.
- 107. Archibald LK, Shapiro J, Pass A, Rand K, Southwick F. Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection in a college football team: Risk factors outside the locker room and playing field. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2008 May;29(5):450-3.
- El-Sharif A, Ashour HM. Community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (CA-MRSA) colonization and infection in intravenous and inhalational opiate drug abusers. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2008 Jul;233(7):874-80.
- Huang H, Cohen SH, King JH, Monchaud C, Nguyen H, Flynn NM. Injecting drug use and communityassociated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2008 Apr;60(4):347-50.
- 110. Gilbert M, MacDonald J, Gregson D, Siushansian J, Zhang K, Elsayed S, *et al.* Outbreak in Alberta of community-acquired (USA300) methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in people with a history of drug use, homelessness or incarceration. Can Med Assoc J. 2006;175(2):149.

- 111. Gilbert M, Macdonald J, Louie M, Gregson D, Zhang K, Elsayed S, et al. Prevalence of USA300 colonization or infection and associated variables during an outbreak of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in a marginalized urban population. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2007 Nov;18(6):357-62.
- 112. Antoniou T, Devlin R, Gough K, Mulvey M, Katz KC, Zehtabchi M, *et al.* Prevalence of communityassociated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* colonization in men who have sex with men. Int J STD AIDS. 2009 Mar;20(3):180-3.
- 113. Sztramko R, Katz K, Antoniou T, Mulvey M, Brunetta J, Crouzat F. Community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infections in men who have sex with men: A case series. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2007 Jul;18(4):257-61.
- 114. Diep BA, Chambers HF, Graber CJ, Szumowski JD, Miller LG, Han LL. Emergence of multidrugresistant, community-associated, methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* clone USA300 in men who have sex with men. Ann Intern Med. 2008 Feb 19;148(4):249-57.
- 115. Cook HA, Furuya EY, Larson E, Vasquez G, Lowy FD. Heterosexual transmission of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Clin Infect Dis. 2007 Feb 1;44(3):410-3.
- 116. Roberts JR, McCawley L, Laxton M, Trumbo H. Genital community-associated methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection can be a sexually transmitted disease. Ann Emerg Med. 2007 Jul;50(1):93-4.
- Cloran FJ. Cutaneous infections with communityacquired MRSA in aviators. Aviat Space Environ Med. 2006 Dec;77(12):1271-4.
- 118. Anderson ME, Lefebvre SL, Weese JS. Evaluation of prevalence and risk factors for methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* colonization in veterinary personnel attending an international equine veterinary conference. Vet Microbiol. 2008 Jun 22;129(3-4):410-7.
- 119. Hanselman BA, Kruth SA, Rousseau J, Low DE, Willey BM, McGeer A. Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* colonization in veterinary personnel. Emerg Infect Dis. 2006 Dec;12(12):1933-8.

- 120. Moodley A, Nightingale EC, Stegger M, Nielsen SS, Skov RL, Guardabassi L. High risk for nasal carriage of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* among Danish veterinary practitioners. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2008 Apr;34(2):151-7.
- 121. Wulf MW, Sorum M, van Nes A, Skov R, Melchers WJ, Klaassen CH. Prevalence of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* among veterinarians: An international study. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2008 Jan;14(1):29-34.
- 122. Weese JS, Dick H, Willey BM, McGeer A, Kreiswirth BN, Innis B, *et al.* Suspected transmission of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* between domestic pets and humans in veterinary clinics and in the household. Vet Microbiol. 2006 Jun 15;115(1-3):148-55.
- 123. Huijsdens XW, van Dijke BJ, Spalburg E, van Santen-Verheuvel MG, Heck ME, Pluister GN. Communityacquired MRSA and pig-farming. Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob. 2006 Nov 10;5:26.
- 124. Crum-Cianflone NF, Burgi AA, Hale BR. Increasing rates of community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infections among HIV-infected persons. Int J STD AIDS. 2007 Aug;18(8):521-6.
- 125. Zafar U, Johnson LB, Hanna M, Riederer K, Sharma M, Fakih MG, *et al.* Prevalence of nasal colonization among patients with community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection and their household contacts. Infect Cont Hosp Ep. 2007 Aug;28(8):966-9.
- 126. Ho PL, Cheung C, Mak GC, Tse CW, Ng TK, Cheung CH. Molecular epidemiology and household transmission of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in Hong Kong. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2007 Feb;57(2):145-51.
- 127. Wenzel RP, Bearman G, Edmond MB. Communityacquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA): New issues for infection control. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2007;30(3):210-2.
- 128. Public Health Agency of Canada. The Canadian Nosocomial Infection Surveillance Program: Surveillance for Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) in Patients Hospitalized in Canadian Acute-Care Hospitals Participating in CNISP. 2006-2007 Preliminary Results. 2008.

- 129. Popovich KJ, Weinstein RA, Hota B. Are communityassociated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) strains replacing traditional nosocomial MRSA strains? Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2008;46(6):787-94.
- 130. Huang YH, Tseng SP, Hu JM, Tsai JC, Hsueh PR, Teng LJ. Clonal spread of SCCmec type IV methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* between community and hospital. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2007 Jul;13(7):717-24.
- 131. Patel M, Waites KB, Hoesley CJ, Stamm AM, Canupp KC, Moser SA. Emergence of USA300 MRSA in a tertiary medical centre: Implications for epidemiological studies. J Hosp Infect. 2008 Mar;68(3):208-13.
- 132. Stranden AM, Frei R, Adler H, Fluckiger U, Widmer AF. Emergence of SCCmec type IV as the most common type of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in a university hospital. Infection. 2009 Feb;37(1):44-8.
- 133. Huang H, Flynn NM, King JH, Monchaud C, Morita M, Cohen SH. Comparisons of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) and hospital-associated MSRA infections in Sacramento, California. J Clin Microbiol. 2006 Jul;44(7):2423-7.
- 134. Tolba O, Loughrey A, Goldsmith CE, Millar BC, Rooney PJ, Moore JE. Survival of epidemic strains of healthcare (HA-MRSA) and community-associated (CA-MRSA) meticillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) in river-, sea- and swimming pool water. Int J Hyg Environ Health. 2008 Jul;211(3-4):398-402.
- 135. Bochet M, Francois P, Longtin Y, Gaide O, Renzi G, Harbarth S. Community-acquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infections in two scuba divers returning from the Philippines. J Travel Med. 2008 Sep-Oct;15(5):378-81.
- Tolba O, Loughrey A, Goldsmith CE, Millar BC, Rooney PJ, Moore JE. Survival of epidemic strains of nosocomial- and community-acquired methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* on coins. Am J Infect Control. 2007 Jun;35(5):342-6.

- 137. Maeda Y, Kenny F, Coulter WA, Loughrey A, Nagano Y, Goldsmith CE, et al. Bactericidal activity of denturecleaning formulations against planktonic health careassociated and community-associated methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Am J Infect Control. 2007 11;35(9):619-22. Available from: http:// search.ebscohost.com.cerberus.lib.uoguelph.ca/ login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip&db=cin20&AN =2009708998&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehostlive&scope=site.
- 138. BC-CDC. Interim guidelines for the management of community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infections in primary care February 2006.
- 139. Los Angeles County Department of Public Health (LACDPH). Guidelines for reducing the spread of Staph/CAMRSA in non-healthcare settings v.2. 2007 2007. Report No.: v.2.
- 140. Gorwitz RJ, Jernigan DB, Powers JH, Jernigan JA, Participants in the CDC-Convened Experts' Meeting on Management of MRSA in the Community. Strategies for clinical management of MRSA in the community: Summary of an experts' meeting convened by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2006.
- 141. Navy Environmental Health Center. Guidelines for the management of community-acquired methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (CA-MRSA) infections in the US Navy and Marine Corps. 2005 2005.
- 142. Federal Bureau of Prisons. Management of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) infections. 2005.
- 143. Nathwani D, Morgan M, Masterton RG, Dryden M, Cookson BD, French G, et al. Guidelines for UK practice for the diagnosis and management of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) infections presenting in the community. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2008 May;61(5):976-94.
- 144. Duckworth G, Heathcock R. Guidelines on the control of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in the community – report of a combined working party of the British-Society-for-Antimicrobial-Chemotherapy and the Hospital-Infection-Society. J Hosp Infect. 1995;31(1):1-12.

- 145. Coia J, Duckworth G, Edwards D, Farrington M, Fry C, Humphreys H, *et al.* Guidelines for the control and prevention of meticillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) in healthcare facilities. J Hosp Infect. 2006;63:1-44.
- 146. Humphreys H, Grundmann H, Skov R, Lucet JC, Cauda R. Prevention and control of methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 2009;15(2):120-4.
- 147. Johnston BL, Bryce E. Hospital infection control strategies for vancomycin-resistant enterococcus, methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* and Clostridium difficile. CMAJ. 2009 Mar 17;180(6):627-31.
- 148. Smith SMS. A review of hand-washing techniques in primary care and community settings. J Clin Nurs. 2009;18(6):786-90.
- Harbarth S. Control of endemic methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* recent advances and future challenges. Clinical Microbiol Infect. 2006;12(12):1154-62.
- Amos C. Prevention and treatment of communityacquired methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (CA-MRSA) in adults. Canadian Pharmacists Journal. 2008 September;141(5):276-7. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.3821%2F1913-701X%282008 %29141%5B276%3APATOCM%5D2.0.CO%3B2.
- Turabelidze G, Lin M, Wolkoff B, Dodson D, Gladbach S, Zhu BP. Personal hygiene and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. Emerg Infect Dis. 2006 Mar;12(3):422-7.
- 152. Rogers SD. A practical approach to preventing CA-MRSA infections in the athletic setting. Athletic Ther Today. 2008 07;13(4):37-41. Available from: http:// search.ebscohost.com.cerberus.lib.uoguelph.ca/ login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip&db=cin20&AN =2009986526&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehostlive&scope=site.
- 153. Benjamin HJ, Nikore V, Takagishi J. Practical management: Community-associated methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (CA-MRSA): The latest sports epidemic. Clin J Sport Med. 2007 Sep;17(5):393-7.

- 154. LeBlanc L, Pepin J, Toulouse K, Ouellette MF, Coulombe MA, Corriveau MP. Fluoroquinolones and risk for methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, Canada. Emerg Infect Dis. 2006 Sep;12(9):1398-405.
- 155. Charbonneau P, Parienti JJ, Thibon P, Ramakers M, Daubin C, du Cheyron D. Fluoroquinolone use and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* isolation rates in hospitalized patients: A quasi experimental study. Clin Infect Dis. 2006 Mar 15;42(6):778-84.
- 156. Tacconelli E, De Angelis G, Cataldo MA, Pozzi E, Cauda R. Does antibiotic exposure increase the risk of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) isolation? A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2008 Jan;61(1):26-38.
- 157. Harbarth S, Samore MH. Interventions to control MRSA: High time for time-series analysis? J Antimicrob Chemother. 2008 /9/1;62(3):431-3. Available from: http://jac.oxfordjournals.org/cgi/ content/abstract/62/3/431.
- 158. Holcomb SS. Community-associated MRSA: New guidelines for a new age. Nurse Pract. 2006 09;31(9):8. Available from: http://search.ebscohost. com.cerberus.lib.uoguelph.ca/login.aspx?direct=true& AuthType=ip&db=cin20&AN=2009293309&loginpag e=Login.asp&site=ehost-live&scope=site.
- 159. Cimolai N. MRSA and the environment: Implications for comprehensive control measures. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2008 Jul;27(7):481-93.
- 160. Ellis MW, Griffith ME, Dooley DP, McLean JC, Jorgensen JH, Patterson JE. Targeted intranasal mupirocin to prevent colonization and infection by community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* strains in soldiers: A cluster randomized controlled trial. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2007 Oct;51(10):3591-8.
- 161. Simor AE, Phillips E, McGeer A, Konvalinka A, Loeb M, Devlin HR, et al. Randomized controlled trial of chlorhexidine gluconate for washing, intranasal mupirocin, and rifampin and doxycycline versus no treatment for the eradication of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* colonization. Clin Infect Dis. 2007 Jan 15;44(2):178-85.

- Buehlmann M, Frei R, Fenner L, Dangel M, Fluckiger U, Widmer AF. Highly effective regimen for decolonization of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* carriers. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2008 Jun;29(6):510-6.
- 163. de Boer HE, van Elzelingen-Dekker CM, van Rheenen-Verberg CM, Spanjaard L. Use of gaseous ozone for eradication of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* from the home environment of a colonized hospital employee. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2006 Oct;27(10):1120-2.
- DeBaun B. Evaluation of the antimicrobial properties of an alcohol-free 2% chlorhexidine gluconate solution. AORN J. 2008 May;87(5):925-33.
- 165. Brinsley-Rainisch K, Cochran RL, Pearson ML. Dermatologists' perceptions and practices related to community-associated methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infections. Am J Infect Control. 2008 11;36(9):668-71. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com.cerberus.lib.uoguelph. ca/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip&db=cin20& AN=2010102743&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehostlive&scope=site.
- 166. Sie I, Thorstad M, Andersen BM. Infection control and meticillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in nursing homes in Oslo. J Hosp Infect. 2008 Nov;70(3):235-40.
- 167. Parry SM, Salmon RL. Sporadic STEC O157 infection: Secondary household transmission in Wales. Emerg Infect Dis. 1998 Oct-Dec;4(4):657-61.
- 168. Thompson SC. Infectious diarrhoea in children: Controlling transmission in the child care setting. J Paediatr Child Health. 1994 Jun;30(3):210-9.
- Pickering LK, Bartlett AV, Woodward WE. Acute infectious diarrhea among children in day care: Epidemiology and control. Rev Infect Dis. 1986 Jul-Aug;8(4):539-47.
- 170. Hiruta N, Murase T, Okamura N. An outbreak of diarrhoea due to multiple antimicrobial-resistant shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O26:H11 in a nursery. Epidemiol Infect. 2001;127(2):221-7.

- 171. Mohle-Boetani JC, Stapleton M, Finger R, Bean NH, Poundstone J, Blake PA, *et al.* Communitywide shigellosis: Control of an outbreak and risk factors in child day-care centers. Am J Public Health. 1995 Jun;85(6):812-6.
- 172. Garrett V, Bornschlegel K, Lange D, Reddy V, Kornstein L, Kornblum J. A recurring outbreak of *Shigella sonnei* among traditionally observant Jewish children in New York city: The risks of daycare and household transmission. Epidemiol Infect. 2006 Dec;134(6):1231-6.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Day care-related outbreaks of rhamnose-negative Shigella sonnei – six States, June 2001-March 2003. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2004 Jan 30;53(3):60-3.
- 174. Shears P, Wright A. Community-acquired infections among children in an urban environment: A 2-year prospective study in Liverpool, U.K. J Infect. 1995 Mar;30(2):173-7.
- 175. Chorba TL, Meriwether RA, Jenkins BR, Gunn RA, MacCormack JN. Control of a non-foodborne outbreak of salmonellosis: Day care in isolation. Am J Public Health. 1987 Aug;77(8):979-81.
- 176. Gilbert M, Monk C, Wang H, Diplock K, Landry L. Screening policies for daycare attendees: Lessons learned from an outbreak of *E. coli* O157:H7 in a daycare in Waterloo, Ontario. Can J Public Health. 2008 07;99(4):281-5. Available from: http://search. ebscohost.com.cerberus.lib.uoguelph.ca/login.aspx?d irect=true&AuthType=ip&db=cin20&AN=201000619 1&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-live&scope=site.
- 177. Al-Jader L, Salmon RL, Walker AM, Williams HM, Willshaw GA, Cheasty T. Outbreak of *Escherichia coli* 0157 in a nursery: Lessons for prevention. Arch Dis Child. 1999 Jul;81(1):60-3.
- 178. Tauxe RV, Johnson KE, Boase JC, Helgerson SD, Blake PA. Control of day-care Shigellosis - a trial of convalescent day-care in isolation. Am J Public Health. 1986;76(6):627-30.
- 179. Maguire HC, Seng C, Chambers S, Cheasty T, Double G, Soltanpoor N, *et al. Shigella* outbreak in a school associated with eating canteen food and person to person spread. Commun Dis Public Health. 1998 Dec;1(4):279-80.

- 180. Scott E. Developing a rational approach to hygiene in the domestic setting. J Infect. 2001 Jul;43(1):45-9.
- Kagan LJ, Aiello AE, Larson E. The role of the home environment in the transmission of infectious diseases. J Community Health. 2002;27(4):247-67.
- 182. Bloomfield SF, Aiello A, Cookson B, O'Boyle C, Larson E. The effectiveness of hand hygiene procedures including hand washing and alcohol-based hand sanitizers in reducing the risks of infections in home and community settings. Am J Infect Control. 2007;35(10).
- Bloomfield SF. Preventing infectious disease in the domestic setting: A risk-based approach. Am J Infect Control. 2001;29:207.
- 184. Werber D, Mason BW, Evans MR, Salmon RL. Preventing household transmission of shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* O157 infection: Promptly separating siblings might be the key. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;46(8):1189-96.
- 185. Strausbaugh LJ, Sukumar SR, Joseph CL. Infectious disease outbreaks in nursing homes: An unappreciated hazard for frail elderly persons. Clin Infect Dis. 2003 Apr 1;36(7):870-6.
- 186. Simor AE. The role of the laboratory in infection prevention and control programs in long-termcare facilities for the elderly. Infect Cont Hos Ep. 2001;22(7):459.
- Reiss G, Kunz P, Koin D, Keeffe EB. *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 infection in nursing homes: Review of literature and report of recent outbreak. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2006;54(4):680-4.
- O'Fallon E, Harper J, Shaw S, Lynfield R. Antibiotic and infection tracking in Minnesota long-term care facilities. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2007 Aug;55(8):1243-7.
- Trevejo RT, Barr MC, Robinson RA. Important emerging bacterial zoonotic infections affecting the immunocompromised. Vet Res. 2005;36:493-506.
- Chang M, Groseclose SL, Zaidi AA, Braden CR. An ecological analysis of sociodemographic factors associated with the incidence of Salmonellosis, Shigellosis, and *E. coli* O157:H7 infections in US counties. Epidemiol Infect. 2009 Jun;137(6):810-20.

- Bruinsma N, Hutchinson JM, van den Bogaard AE, Giamarellou H, Degener J, Stobberingh EE. Influence of population density on antibiotic resistance. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2003 Feb;51(2):385-90.
- 192. MacDougall C, Powell JP, Johnson CK, Edmond MB, Polk RE. Hospital and community fluoroquinolone use and resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Escherichia coli* in 17 US hospitals. Clin Infect Dis. 2005 Aug 15;41(4):435-40.
- 193. van Hees BC, Veldman-Ariesen MJ, de Jongh BM, Tersmette M, van Pelt W. Regional and seasonal differences in incidence and antibiotic resistance of *Campylobacter* from a nationwide surveillance study in the Netherlands: An overview of 2000-2004. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2007 Mar;13(3):305-10.
- 194. Green CG, Krause DO, Wylie JL. Spatial analysis of *Campylobacter* infection in the Canadian province of Manitoba. Int J Health Geogr. 2006 Jan 16;5:2.
- 195. Alamanos Y, Maipa V, Levidiotou S, Gessouli E. A community waterborne outbreak of gastro-enteritis attributed to *Shigella sonnei*. Epidemiol Infect. 2000 Dec;125(3):499-503.
- Seto EY, Soller JA, Colford JM,Jr. Strategies to reduce person-to-person transmission during widespread *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 outbreak. Emerg Infect Dis. 2007 Jun;13(6):860-6.
- 197. Lietzau S, Raum E, von Baum H, Marre R, Brenner H. Clustering of antibiotic resistance of *E. coli* in couples: Suggestion for a major role of conjugal transmission. BMC Infect Dis. 2006 Jul 18;6:119.
- 198. Kaier K, Frank U, Hagist C, Conrad A, Meyer E. The impact of antimicrobial drug consumption and alcohol-based hand rub use on the emergence and spread of extended-spectrum {beta}-lactamaseproducing strains: A time-series analysis. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2009 /3/1;63(3):609-14. Available from: http://jac.oxfordjournals.org/cgi/content/ abstract/63/3/609.
- 199. Aiello AE, Larson EL, Levy SB. Consumer antibacterial soaps: Effective or just risky? Clin Infect Dis. 2007 Sep 1;45 Suppl 2:S137-47.

- 200. Kotch JB, Isbell P, Weber DJ, Nguyen V, Savage E, Gunn E, *et al.* Hand-washing and diapering equipment reduces disease among children in out-of-home child care centers. Pediatrics. 2007 Jul;120(1):e29-36.
- 201. Gould DJ, Hewitt-Taylor J, Drey NS, Gammon J, Chudleigh J, Weinberg JR. The CleanYourHandsCampaign: Critiquing policy and evidence base. J Hosp Infect. 2007 Feb;65(2):95-101.
- Guerrant RL, Van Gilder T, Steiner TS, Thielman NM, Slutsker L, Tauxe RV, *et al.* Practice guidelines for the management of infectious diarrhea. Clin Infect Dis. 2001 Feb 1;32(3):331-51.

# **Appendices**

# Appendix A: Key Words and Search Strings

#### **Enteric Disease**

Gastrointestinal Gastroenteritis GI illness GI discomfort GI distress GI symptoms Emesis Vomiting Diarrhea\* Abdominal cramp Abdominal pain Transmissible

#### Control

Intervention\* Prevention Surveillance Monitoring Polic\* Policy Evaluation Best Practices Guidelines

#### **Health Practices**

Veterinary Animal workers Personal support workers Immunocompromised individuals

#### Community

Community acquired Community associated Population Nursing homes Long-term care facilities Assisted living Group-homes Day care facilities Educational institutions Dormitories Sports arenas Sports equipments Gymnasiums Gyms Prisons Children Elderly Aboriginal **First Nations** Athletes Military Schools

#### Antimicrobial

Antibiotic Antibacterial Anti-infective Antiseptic

#### **Enteric Bacteria**

Salmonell\* Shigell\* Escherichia coli 0157:H7 *E. coli* 0157:H7 VTFC. Verotoxin-producing E. coli Verotoxin-producing Escherichia coli Verocytotoxin-producing E. coli Verocytotoxin-producing Escherichia coli STEC Shiga toxin-producing E. coli Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli SLTEC Shiga-like toxin-producing E. coli Shiga-like toxin-producing Escherichia coli Campylobac\* Transmissible

#### Staphylococcus aureus

Methicillin-resistant *staphylococcus aureus* MRSA Community-acquired methicillin resistant *staphylococcus aureus* CA-MRSA transmissible

#### Resistance

Antimicrobial AMR Resistance Resistant

#### Search Strings

Antimicrobial AND Enteric Disease AND Enteric Bacteria AND Antibiotic Antimicrobial AND Resistance AND Enteric Disease AND Enteric Bacteria AND Community AND Health practices Antimicrobial AND Resistance AND Enteric Disease AND Enteric Bacteria AND Community AND Control

# Appendix B: Abstract Relevancy Screening Checklist

1. Does the abstract investigate/discuss any of the following keywords (check all that apply):

- ControlInterventionPrevention
- □ Surveillance
- □ Monitoring
- Policy
- □ Policy evaluation
- Best practices
- ☐ Guidelines
- 2. Does the abstract investigate community-acquired illness (versus hospital-acquired)? Y / N
- 3. Does the abstract discuss any of the following populations specifically? Y / N
  - LTC
    Nursing homes
    Assisted living
    Group homes
    Daycares
    Schools
    Dormitories
    Sports arenas, teams, athletes, gyms
    Prisons
    Children
    Elderly
    Immunocompromised
  - First Nations, aboriginals

4. Does the abstract discuss any of the following pathogens? Y / N

- MRSA
  Salmonella
  E. coli (VTEC/STEC/SLTEC)
- □ Shigella
- Campylobacter

5. Does the abstract material refer to human cases of AMR, enteric bacteria, or MRSA? Y / N



National Collaborating Centre for Infectious Diseases

Centre de collaboration nationale des maladies infectieuses

413–455 Ellice Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada R3B 3P5 Tel: (204) 943-0051 Fax: (204) 946-0927 www.nccid.ca